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RoMAN Fort AT CAPE AJ-TODOR (CHARAX) AND ITS SURROUNDINGS.
A NEw Look AT OLD DISCOVERIES

ABSTRACT

Despite many years of research at the site, the
Roman fort at Cape Aj-Todor near Yalta remains rela-
tively poorly studied. A better understanding of the
discoveries made at the site can be reached by compar-
ing them with the results of the excavations conducted
in another fort also located in Crimea — at Balaklava-
Kadykovka. This text is an attempt at gathering together
all the published information about the discoveries made

at Cape Aj-Todor. The comparison of the research results
from both sites has enabled establishing numerous simi-
larities between them. Both forts functioned simultane-
ously, and their architectural remains can be qualified to
identically dated phases. The final effect of the analysis
undertaken by the author is a more complete plan of the
fort at Cape Aj-Todor along with its surroundings, pro-
cessed in a new graphic formula.
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Introduction

The fort at Cape Aj-Todor is the earliest discovered
and correctly identified garrison site of the Roman army
in Taurica. Despite the many excavations conducted in
the fort, it is relatively little known. Much of the research
material has never been circulated academically, while
some of it — due to various twists and turns of fate — has
been irretrievably lost. In turn, certain categories of mov-
able artefacts from the collection stored in Moscow are
only now being studied and published.! However, it is
worth taking another look at the previously published re-
sults of the studies conducted at the site, as well as to un-
dertake efforts to come to a better understanding of the
architecture, topography, and settlement history of the
fort. This can be aided by conducting a comparison with
the results of the excavations conducted within the last
decades at other sites connected to the presence of the
Romans in Taurica, primarily in Balaklava-Kadykovka.

1Zuravlev, Kamelina 2005; 2012; 2015; Kamelina 2012.
?Blavatskij 1938, 373; Zubar’ 2003, 102.

3Zubar’ 2003, 102.

4D’akov 1930, 7.

The reasons for the choice
of the fort’s localisation

Cape Aj-Todor is situated about 8 km west of the
present-day centre of Yalta (Fig. 1). This hill, separate
from the nearby Crimean Mountains, is located on the
extension of the so-called Gaspra Ridge.? Viewed from
afar, the cape is in the shape of a hill cut in half by the sea.
The highest point s located right at the coast — on the cliff.
The area is inaccessible from the coast, but the remaining
slopes are at an angle of between 20 and 40 degrees.® It is
an excellent observation point. The cape is also located
in the vicinity of the most convenient road leading from
the west to the Yalta Valley, enclosed by high mountains.
The old route for centuries ran right next to the castel-
lum’s fortifications, in the depression between the cape
and the mountains.” The above-mentioned Gaspra Ridge
constitutes one of the most important natural boundar-
ies dividing the southern edge of Crimea into separate
valleys.® However, the lack of water poses a challenge for
any potential settlement on the cape.” Another problem
involves the very badly sheltered natural harbour located

> Firsov 1975, 94.
¢Bert'e-Delagard” 1907, 25-26.
’Bert'e-Delagard” 1907, 25; Orlov 1988, 22; Zubar’ 2000, 189.
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in a wide open bay about 0.5 km east of the centre of the
fort.® At one time, Berthier de Lagarde noted that for
many reasons this place is inferior to a number of oth-
ers on the southern coast of Crimea, while for a military
or trade fleet it is completely unusable.” The bay does
not protect mooring ships from storms.”® Based on my
own experience, I can safely confirm that during a bout
of bad weather it is impossible to approach the shore-
line. However, there were some researchers who voiced
a different opinion." Due to the lack of other convenient
natural ports on the southern Crimean coast, a harbour
must have functioned near the cape and was probably in
use at least on a seasonal basis. This is evidenced, among
other things, by the traditional name of the rock pro-
truding out into the sea east of the above-mentioned bay
— “Harbour Rock” (in Turkish “Liman Burun”).?
Taking into consideration the benefits and draw-
backs of the fort’s localisation on the cape, it should be
stated that the choice of this spot in particular was moti-
vated primarily by the unobstructed view and the neigh-
bourhood of the best land route to the Yalta Valley. One
of the very significant reasons must also have been the
role of the cape as an important navigational point.?
It is distinctive and easily recognisable from the sea.
Aj-Todor can be seen from Cape Ajudah (to the east) to
that of Kogka Rock near present-day Simeiz (to the west).!
The role of the discussed point in navigation along the
Crimean coast is also evidenced by the fact that a modern
lighthouse was erected on this spot as early as in 1865.

8 Zubar’ 2000, 177.

?Bert'e-Delagard” 1907, 25.

10Zubar’ 2003, 102-103.

""Rostoveev 1911, 41; Blavatskij 1951, 291; Orlov 1988, 22.
2Keppen 1837, 191; D’akov 1930, 7.

B Novic¢enkova 2015, 151.

4 D’akov 1930, 17; Orlov 1988, 22; Zubar’ 2003, 102.

Aj-Todor and Charax

The name ‘Charax’ was only mentioned by Claudius
Ptolemy (Ptol. Geog. 111, 6, 2). The identification of this
ancient settlement with the fort on Cape Aj-Todor was
done by Rostovcev;® however, he supposedly based this
claim on the eatlier opinion voiced by LatySev, among
others.'® Due to the lack of any possibility to verify
Ptolemy’s information, even the opinion of such a well-
known researcher as Rostovcev should be treated with
some caution. Certain scholars who later analysed this
issue were hesitant to link Ptolemy’s Charax to the fort
on Cape Aj-Todor.”

At least some of the attempts to link various other
names listed by the geographer from Alexandria with
specific places have raised researchers’ doubts, with their
localisations ultimately later modified. The example of
Calisia, supposedly corresponding to Kalisz (in central
Poland), which was shown to have almost definitely been
situated somewhere in modern-day Slovakia (by the Vih
River), best illustrates the magnitude of the problem
involved in the interpretation of data from Ptolemy’s
texts.'® However, to return to the southern Crimean
coast, it should be stated that the identification of the
fort at Cape Aj-Todor with Charax has been widely ac-
cepted in the academic literature on the matter and is
usually quoted without any reservations or doubts.”

15 Rostovcev 1900, 159; Rostowzew 1902, 95.

1 Orlov 1988, 17.

7 D’akov 1930, fn. 77; Firsov 1975, fn. 1.

18 Kolendo 2011.

1 Blavatskij 1951; Orlov 1985; 1988; Sarnowski, Zubar’ 1996;
Zubar 2000; 2003; Novyc¢enkova, Novycenkova-Lukyceva
2009; Zuravlev, Kamelina 2015; Novy&enkova 2017.
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History of research

Consecutive researchers have provided at least short
overviews of the history of the investigations conduct-
ed at the site.”® Thanks to V.M. Zubar’s publication, it
is possible to follow in detail who studied what at the
“Aj-Todor stronghold” up until the end of the 20*
century.”

The first amateur excavations were undertaken in
1849 by Count Suvalov, a son-in-law of M.S. Voroncov,
the owner of the nearby Alupka and a collector of an-
cient works of art. Systematic research was initiated
in 1896 under the auspices of Grand Duke Alexander
Mihailovi¢ Romanov, at that time the owner of the
surrounding land. The grand duke was very interested
in archaeological discoveries near his houschold. At his
initiative, a local museum was founded on the cape and
served the purposes of collecting and presenting all the
acquired finds. The idea for the museum was consulted
with K.K. Koscjusko-Valjuzini¢, a representative of the
Imperial Archaeological Commission and the Director
of the Warehouse of Local Antiquities in Chersonesos.
Rostovcev, who visited the museum, praised the idea of
storing the whole collection in one place and the high
level of the exhibition, for which special display cases had
been purchased.?

The pre-revolution excavations lasted 15 years with
some interruptions. Rostovcev also participated in these
studies, and it is to him that we owe not only the identifi-
cation of the fort with Ptolemy’s Charax but also the con-
firmation that this was indeed the place where a Roman
garrison was stationed. Rostovcev published, among
other things, a plan of the site as well as the epigraphic
finds, including Latin stamps on bricks, altars, and the
so-called votive reliefs.”> From the perspective of the last
century, we know that these are the only publications
that were based directly on the results of these excava-
tions. Some of the documentation and artefacts acquired
at that time (later stored in the museum in Yalta) were
lost during World War II.

The architectural structures discovered during the
pre-revolution excavations included the following: two
lines of defensive walls with traces of at least one gate,
one fortified turret at the outer wall, two water reser-

2 Blavatskij 1951, 250; Orlov 1988, 16-19; Novi¢enkov,
Novi¢enkova 2002, 27-29.

A Zubar’ 20005 ¢f” Zubar’ 2003.

22 Rostoveev 1911, 1-2.

23 Rostovcev 1900, 140-158; 1911, 1-42; Rostowzew 1902, 80-95.
2 Rostowzew 1902, 91.

% Rostovcev 1911, 3—4.

% Rostovcev 1911, 3; Blavatskij 1951, 260; Orlov 1988, 21.

7 Blavatskij 1951.
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voirs (later named Nymphaeum 1 and Nymphaeum 11), as
well as a baths building* and a complex of rooms “with
a large portico” near the lighthouse. A shrine with dedi-
cations by beneficiarii consularis®® as well as a fragment of
an aqueduct made from ceramic pipes were uncovered
outside the fort walls.?®

In the interwar period (1931, 1932, and 1935), re-
search at the cape was conducted by V.D. Blavatskij.”
Aside from the continuation of the work done on the
buildings previously uncovered by the expedition su-
pervised by this researcher, we are also indebted to him
for the discovery of the cremation cemetery dated to the
314-4* century AD.

After the war, research was first undertaken in 1963
by PN. Sulc, O.1. Dombrovskij, and L.V. Firsov,?® while
later, in the 1970s and 1980s, by K.K. Orlov.” We owe
the discovery of the fragments of a marble plaque with
a Latin inscription to the last of the above-mentioned
scholars. The text of this building inscription is important
for studies on the Roman military presence in Taurica.*

The last excavations on the cape were conducted at
the beginning of the 21 century by V.I. Novi¢enkov and
N.G. Novicenkova from the Museum in Yalta.’' This re-
search focused on the verification of the results of the
earlier excavations of the external defensive wall.

Issues with the site plan

Despite the work conducted by a few expedi-
tions and a fair amount of researchers, relatively lictle
is known about the Roman fort referred to as Charax.
Documentation is lacking from some of the excavations,
as it was either not maintained or lost. The results from
some seasons were only published in the form of short
reports, while the entirety of the material still requires
more comprehensive studies.”

The scale of the issues connected to any attempt at
preparing a synthetic analysis of the results of the re-
search conducted thus far can be illustrated by the lack of
one collective plan of the site (Fig. 2). It is quite peculiar
that facts registered in the 19" century and at the be-
ginning of the 20% century are presently invisible in the
field and have been erased from human memory, and,

2 Firsov 1990, 269-278.

2 Orlov 1978, 366-367; 1982, 298-299; 1984, 309-310; 1985,
331-332; 1987, 106-133; 1988, 12-27.

3 Sarnowski, Zubar’ 1996, 229-234; Zubar’, Sarnovskij 1997,
50-59.

31 Novicenkov, Novicenkova 2002; Novi¢enkova, Novi¢enkov
2005; Novycenkova 2017.

32 Zubar’ 2000, 198.
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Fig. 2. Fort at Cape Aj-Todor. A plan of the site. This compilation was prepared based on the previously published plans (Rostovcev
1911, tab. 1; D’akov 1930, fig. 7; Blavatskij 1951, fig. 2; Firsov 1975, fig. 1; Novi¢enkov, Novi¢enkova 2002, 33, fig. 3; compiled by
R. Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski; drawing by O. Kubrak): 1. Rooms adjacent to the defensive wall; 2. Nymphaeum 1; 3. Baths; 4. Central
building (principia?); 5. Barracks; 6. Tower at the peak?; 7. Inner wall; 8. Probable course of the via praetoria; 9. Nymphaeum 11;
10. Outer wall; 11. Turrets: confirmed localisation (in black), probable localisation (in gray); 12. Gates; 13. Temple outside the east
gate; 14. Alleged temple beyond the walls — west of the fort; 15. Findspot of one of the altars dedicated to Jupiter IOM) west of the
temple (see no. 13 above); 16. Road leading to the harbour.

therefore, they were not included in the plans prepared in and its course had actually ran more in accordance with
later periods. A comparison of the various plans from the what was sketched by Keppen.”” The above-described
perspective of the methods used for the documentation repeated publications of the site plans containing
of the course of the Roman fortifications may serve as an mistakes are all the more surprising since, for example,
example of such difficulties. Blavatskij noted that the various fragments of the exter-
The oldest known plan was prepared by Keppen,® nal wall known in his time did not form the suggested
and his sketch of the outer wall is presented as a broken arched shape. The researcher also noted a curve in the
line. The outline of the fortifications is similar in shape wall?®® In turn, Orlov mentioned that a twisting wall
to a triangle with an irregularly torn-off top. The later would make better use of the natural defensive advan-
plan by Rostovcev, as supplemented by Dakov, presents tages of the area and would limit the “blind spots”.%
a semi-circular outline of both fortification sections.* However, neither of these researchers attempted to
Similar plans were later published by Blavatskij, Firsov, correct the site plan so as to remove the mistakes.
and Orlov.” Mistakes in the documentation appeared To summarise, it should be emphasised that the
and were later duplicated, even though the mentioned most up-to-date information about the course of the
researchers hired surveyors to measure the walls or did outer wall were provided by Novi¢enkov and
it themselves.*® Only the verification during the follow- Novicenkova’s verification of the earlier discoveries and
ing excavations proved that the external wall was curved, opinions.*
3 Keppen 1837, 191. 7 Novi¢enkov, Novi¢enkova 2002, fig. 3.
3 Roztowzew 1902, fig. 1; Rostovcev 1911, tab. 1; D’ikov 1930, 38 Blavatskij 1951, 276, fn. 1.
fig. 7. ¥ Orlov 1988, 24.
% Blavatskij 1951, fig. 2; Firsov 1975, fig. 1; Orlov 1988, fig. 1. 4 Novi¢enkov, Novi¢enkova 2002; Novi¢enkova, Novi¢enkov
3¢ Blavatskij 1951, 260; Firsov 1975, 95; Orlov 1988, 19. 2005.
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Buildings enclosed by the external wall

The research conducted thus far has revealed a num-
ber of buildings, of which the majority have only been
partially investigated, while some of the research was not
documented or the documentation has not been pre-
served. At times, the buildings are only mentioned in the
publications.”! As a result, it is exceptionally difficult to
form a complete image based on such rudimentary in-
formation.

The data made available by the various research-
ers enables stating that the remains of two streets were
found in the area of the so-called ‘citadel’. One, about
6 m wide, supposedly ran along the N-S axis, reaching
the bathhouse located on the highest part of the hill.
The bathhouse was situated west of this street. The second
supposedly ran along the internal side of the inner defen-
sive wall.®? A small side street about 4 m wide diverged
westward at a right angle from the first of the above-
mentioned streets. It neighboured the bathhouse from
the north.®

The circuitous street could not have ran directly
next to the inner defensive wall for its entire length as
rooms that had been added to the inner face of these
fortifications were found in the western part of the fort.*
Abutments were also added from the inside in a few
places in order to broaden the curtain wall.® In the
south-western part of the inner wall, one fragment was
registered towards the end of the 19% century that was
supposed to have been up to 5.5 m thick.* In all proba-
bility, the wall had also been thickened from the inside.
As a result, it should be assumed that an empty space
was left between the supposedly circuitous street and the
wall, which when needed was used for the construction
of rooms or in order to add abutments or thicken the
fortifications.

The rooms adjacent to the defensive wall

The buildings uncovered within the borders of the
inner wall perimeter include, among others, the rooms
in the north-western part on the top of the hill. The
rooms adjacent to the inner defensive wall had already
been marked on the plan prepared by Rostovcev.”
A number of such rooms in the above-mentioned part of
the ‘citadel” had also already been registered by D’akov.

“ Cf among others Zubar’ 2000, 198.

#Vinogradov 1910, 251; Zubar’ 2000, 187.

# D’akov 1930, fig. 12; Zubar’ 2000, fig. 12.

# Rostovcev 1911, tab. 1; Blavatskij 1951, 282; Orlov 1988, 26;
Zubar’ 2000, 183.

% Orlov 1988, 26-27.

46 Rostoveev 1900, 96.

47 Rostovcev 1911, tab. 1.

This scholar also reported finds of entire “mounds” of
ballista balls.® Blavatskij’s research, conducted on the
internal side of the wall, also revealed two similar rooms,
as well as cultural accumulations up to 3 m thick.?

Aside from the general references cited above,
a slightly larger amount of information can be found
about three adjacent rooms. The walls are between 0.8
and 0.85 m thick, while they are 1.9 x 2.2 m, 5.2 x 5.4 m,
and 6 x 4 m in dimensions. The first room supposedly
functioned as a utility room,* and a floor made of a layer
of lime mortar was registered inside. The last room had
a floor made from raw clay, on the surface of which traces
of a fire-hearth or oven were found.” On this basis, it can
be assumed that the room performed a residential func-
tion. Among other things, a supply of over 700 stone
balls for ranged weapons was discovered nearby.™

To summarise the above-quoted references, it can
be assumed that a series of rooms was built between the
defensive walls and the circuitous street within the fort
on Cape Aj-Todor. The space on the internal side of the
fortifications at the outpost on Kazatskaya Hill was used
in an analogous manner. Traces of fire-hearths were also
found there on the clay floors in the rooms adjacent to
the defensive wall. It is assumed on this basis that these
were contubernia.>

Nymphaeum 1

In the south-western part of the ‘citadel’, a wa-
ter reservoir (so-called Nymphaeum 1) was also found
at the beginning of the 19" century (Figs 2.2, 3). The
plan indicates that the basin, similarly as in the case
of the above-mentioned rooms, was constructed right
next to the defensive wall.’* The basin was 9 x 7.7 m
in dimensions and reached the depth of at least 2.55 m.
The south-eastern wall, adjacent to the circuitous street
(compare with the description of the streets provided
above), was moulded into 8 or 9 steps, which enabled
going down to the bottom of the tank.” The walls were
made from quarried stone, while the entire interior was
plastered with two layers of mortar. The internal sealing
layer contained an admixture of broken pottery. A drain
about 20 cm in diameter was located in the north-eastern
part of the reservoir, near the bottom. The backfill layers
in the vicinity of the tank contained broken roof tiles.

#D’akov 1930, 23.

# Blavatskij 1951, 280, 282.

50 Zubar’ 2000, 183.

1 Orlov 1988, 26.

%2 Orlov 1988, 26.

%3 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 78.
>4 Rostovcev 1911, tab. 1.

% Blavatskij 1938, 386.
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Fig. 3. Fort at Cape Aj-Todor. Nymphaeum 1 (after Blavatskij
1951, fig. 19).

On this basis, it can be assumed that the basin was
covered with a roof.*® Nearby, a fragment of a Latin
inscription was also found carved into a lime plaque:
“[nlymphlaeum)”. The preserved letters bore traces of
having been painted red.”” A piece of a relief, on which
a fragment of an image presenting a woman near a tree is
visible, was found in this same area.’® Dakov put forward
a supposition that the marble sculptures of women that
Suvalov presented to the Alupka collection might also
have been connected to the discussed reservoir.”

The baths
The bathhouse (balneum) is the only building

within the fort which was excavated in its entirety
(Figs 2.3, 4). It is situated west of the hill’s peak, on which
the modern-day lighthouse is located. The bathhouse
takes up the lower terrace, formed in the rock probably
deliberately for its construction.®® As already mentioned,
one of the main streets ran east of the discussed building,
along the N-S axis. A narrower small street, perpendi-
cular to the main artery, neighboured the bathhouse
from the north.
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Fig. 4. Fort at Cape Aj-Todor. The baths (after Blavatskij 1951, fig. 22; numbering according to D’4kov 1930, 27, fig. 12).

°¢ Blavatskij 1951, 282-283.
57 Rostoveev 1911, 41-42; D’akov 1930, 24; Blavatskij 1951, 250.
% Blavatskij 1951, 283.

158

¥ D’akov 1930, 24.
% D’akov 1930, 25.



RomaN Fort aT CaPE Aj-ToDOR (CHARAX) AND ITS SURROUNDINGS. A NEw Look AT OLD DISCOVERIES

Baths were discovered at the turn of the 19 and 20
centuries. They can be seen on the plan of the site pub-
lished in 1902.°' Rostovcev was also the author of the first
plan of the building and of the first attempt to inter-
pret the functions of the discovered rooms.®* However,
the mentioned plan was quite schematic; in addition,
it shows that at the time the entire baths had not yet
been uncovered. The bathhouse was once again studied
in the 1930s, 1970s, and 1980s. Combining the discov-
eries made before the revolution and the results of re-
search conducted later contributed, among other things,
to the publishing of two subsequent versions of balneum
plans. The older one presents all of the rooms in the baths
and some of those in the neighbouring buildings. It also
contains a coherent proposal for the numbering of the
rooms.”® The plan published later focused only on the
baths building but provided more precise documentation
of the structure. Undoubtedly, one major drawback of
this version is the lack of any sort of markings of the
rooms.* Due to the indicated imperfections in the pub-
lished bathhouse documentation, Blavatskij’s plan with
D’akov’s numbering will be used in the present paper.

To return to the building itself, at present it is acces-
sible on the surface, and it constitutes the best preserved
example of a bathhouse constructed by Roman garrisons
on the northern coast of the Black Sea. It is also an excep-
tion among the various Roman architectural monuments
on Cape Aj-Todor as all the others, despite formally be-
ing under protection, have been systematically damaged
or are threatened with destruction.

The baths building is 24.65 x 14.85 m in dimen-
sions, with its longer side oriented along the W-E
axis.® The walls are 0.75-1.0 m thick and were built
from broken stone with admixtures of roof tiles and
bricks,® in the pertinent literature sometimes even
termed opus mixtum.”’ Lime mortar was used as the bind-
ing material. In the majority of the rooms, pilae from the
hypocaust basements have been preserved, some of which
were made of lime blocks and others from bricks bound
with lime mortar.®® Pilze made from ceramic pipes were
also found, with additional holes made in their walls
later.”” Renovations of the heating system done with
the use of such pipes were also observed in the gar-
rison baths in the Chersonesos citadel.”” During the

' Roztowzew 1902, 88, fig. 1.
2 Roztowzew 1902, 91, fig. 4.
% D’akov 1930, 27, fig. 12.

¢4 Blavatskij 1951, fig. 22.

6 Blavatskij 1951, 287.

% Blavatskij 1938, 378.

7 D’akov 1930, 27.

68 Blavatskij 1938, 378.
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excavations, the remains of ceramic tiles which had
covered the hypocaust, as well as leftover fragments of the
floor mosaic (probably made from pebbles) and plaster
fragments with traces of paintings, were also found.”

As mentioned above, the particular rooms and their
parts have been marked using Arabic numerals from 1 to
11 as proposed by D’akov (Fig. 4).”* The entire complex
of rooms was clearly divided into two rows: the south-
ern and the northern. Blavatskij’s plan and the results
of his studies provided confirmation that the building
was constructed in two stages. The earlier phase saw the
construction of only the rooms from the southern row
(numbers 6-11). In the later phase, a whole row of rooms
was added to the north (numbers 1-5). The plan pub-
lished by Blavatskij” clearly indicates that the two sides
of the building are at a slight angle to each other and are
not linked very precisely.

Rooms 2 and 10 have furnace mouths (praefurnia) in
the walls to the west. In these rooms, as well as in the
neighbouring ones numbered 3, 4, 8, and 9, the remains
of hypocaust basements have been preserved. Therefore,
they were all heated by the two aforementioned furnaces.”

In the walls of rooms 2 to 4, added at a later point
in time, flues that served to let out the furnace gases
from the basement level have also been preserved. In the
walls of this part of the building, fragments of roof tiles
marked with stamps “LE XI CL” were also found.”

The published baths plans differ from each other in
some details. However, it can be stated that at the level
of the basements there were connections between rooms
2, 3, and 4, as well as between 9 and 10. Based on the
analysis of this documentation, it remains uncertain
whether there was a connection with room 8 (and if so,
where exactly it was located). However, both Orlov and
D’akov were of the opinion that there had been a Ay-
pocaustum in this room.”® In addition, the latter of the
above-mentioned researchers claimed that large ceramic
box tiles were arranged on top of the pilae stacks covered
with a layer of mortar, on which the remains of a mosaic
made from broken pebbles (gravel) were preserved. This
room had benches arranged along the walls neighbouring
with rooms 4 and 9. It was also connected to the pools
(so-called rooms 6 and 7). Three steps led to the large
pool no. 7. The pool also had a drain for letting out water

 Blavatskij 1951, 253.

70 Antonova, Zubar’ 2003, 55-56.

7' Blavatskij 1938, 378; Orlov 1977, 6, 8-9.
2 Drakov 1930, 27, fig. 12.

73 Blavatskij 1951, fig. 22.

7 Rostowzew 1902, 91; D’akov 1930, 26.

7 Blavatskij 1951, 287.

76 D’akov 1930, 26; Orlov 1977, 6, 8-9.
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on the side situated next to room 8.”7 The above-quoted
information about the mosaic floor stands in contrast to
the description claiming that the floor in room 8 was
covered with bricks. They lacked stamps, but they had
the same dimensions as the specimens bearing stamps
“VEX / G RAV SP”.”® The publications provide con-
cordant information that there was a doorway leading
outside (in the direction of the cliff) in room 8, as well as
a door to room 5.

Attempts to identify the functions of particular
rooms were undertaken by Rostovcev and D’akov.””
However, these proposals could not be comprehensive.
The first of these researchers did not have access to in-
formation about the entire building, while the second
could not yet have known that the structure had been
expanded. More precise studies of the building enabled
distinguishing two construction phases.®

The sum of the discoveries and observations con-
ducted over the decades enables the reinterpretation of
the functions of the particular rooms. In the earlier phase,
when only the southern part of the building existed,
room 8 along with pools 6 and 7 probably served jointly
as an apodyterium and frigidarium. Even if we assume
that room 8 had a hypocaust basement, it was located
farthest away from the furnace (room 11) and in addi-
tion was furnished with benches along the walls. Due to
its localisation in relation to the furnace, room 9 should
have performed the function of a tepidarium, while room
10 — that of a caldarium. The above-mentioned room 11
would have been the back room for people working with
the furnace (praefurnium).

It seems that after the expansion of the bathhouse
nothing was changed in the old part of the build-
ing, with only the joint apodyterium and frigidarium
extended through the addition of room 5. In all prob-
ability, this room was used to enter room 4 and subse-
quently to pass on to rooms 3 and 2. The last of these
was located right next to the furnace and would have
performed the function of a caldarium, while rooms 3
and 4 situated further from the fire would have jointly
served as a tepidarium.

In summary, it may be assumed that the expanded
bathhouse had two rows of rooms for warm and hot
baths and one (large) apodyterium with a frigidarium.
The cold baths would be limited to the two baths located
in the eastern edges of the building (rooms 6 and 7).
The estimates concerning the amount of rooms with

77 D’akov 1930, 26; Blavatskij 1951, 287.

78 Blavatskij 1951, 287.

7 Rostoveev 1911, 91, fig. 4; D’akov 1930, 26.
80 Blavatskij 1951, 287-288.

81 Blavatskij 1951, 288.

8 Rostoveev 1911, 3; ¢f Zubar’ 2000, 186.

8 D’akov 1930, 28.

warm and hot bathing areas after the expansion of the
balneum may of course raise certain doubts, but it seems
certain that the general bathing surface was doubled!

The central building

In the central part of the so-called ‘citadel’, rooms
were discovered that neighboured the baths but be-
longed to other buildings (Figs 2.4, 5.1). Large rooms
that lacked hypocaust basements were located north of
the bathhouse, on the opposite side of the small narrow
street. The walls were supposedly monumental, even
though they had been constructed using stones in clay
bonding. During the excavations, a canal was found,
made from broken stone well insulated with lime mortar
and constructed earlier than the discussed building. Only
later (after the terrain had been levelled) was a building
erected in this place. It probably had two construction
phases, which is indicated by the two levels of floors ob-
served during the excavations.” The architectural com-
plex consisted, among other things, of a portico 22 m in
length situated on the neighbouring street.®

It is rather improbable that the entire structure
constituted a palaestra next to the bathhouse.®® Rather,
it is possible that the building performed the function
of a military headquarters.** However, there is no way
to confirm this hypothesis by conducting a compari-
son with other Roman forts. Most of the well-known
castella were constructed on a rectangular plan. At Cape
Aj-Todor, the irregular contours of the fortification lines
undoubtedly required various compromises and non-
standard solutions. From the plans of the buildings from
this part of the fort, it can be inferred that the build-
ing next to the bathhouse, which was only examined
in some fragments, took up a parcel of land measuring
30 x 30 m.% A military headquarters or praetorium could
have been of a similar size. Blavatskij used the term
principia to describe this building.*® However, D’4kov
wanted to see principia on the peak of the hill near the
modern-day lighthouse.”

Comparing the listed proposals, the option that
the garrison baths were located next to the headquarters
building seems to be more probable. A similar case is
known from the legionary camp in Novae,® as well as
from the Apsaros fort, at which research is ongoing.*
It is very probable that after the introduction of

84 Rostoveev 1911, 3—4; Zubar’ 2000, 187.

% D’akov 1930, fig. 12.

8 Blavatskij 1951, 260.

87 D’akov 1930, 25.

8 Biernacki 2002.

% Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski, Kakhidze 2015, 183186, figs 3, 5.5.
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Fig. 5. Fort at Cape Aj-Todor. The cen-
tral part of the fort (after D’akov 1930,
fig. 12): 1. Central building (principia?);
2. Barracks rooms; 3. Baths.
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modifications to the buildings inside the Chersonesos
citadel, a small staff building (Building B) and a separate
chapel of the standards (Building G) were constructed
next to the (expanded!) bathhouse (Building A).”°
It is worth taking special note of this example as in
Chersonesos the Roman garrison also had to be adapted
to an atypical site. In addition, by all probability, in both
cases soldiers from the vexillationes of the Lower Moesian
army participated in their construction. Yet another ar-
gument in favour of the presented hypothesis about the
function of the building located next to the bathhouse
comes in the form of a piece of information that can be
inferred from a comparison of the published fort plans.
The front elevation (not investigated during the excava-
tions) of the discussed building used to be oriented more
or less toward the main gate in the inner defensive wall.
It seems that the main gate in the external defensive wall
was also located on the same axis. In forts and camps built
according to a regular plan, the principia were erected
directly opposite the main gate (porza praetoria), in the
central part of the space enclosed by the fortifications.

% Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2001, 65-66; 2015a, 30-32, 38.
7 Rostoveev 1911, tab. 1; Blavatskij 1951, figs 1, 2.

2 Rostovcev 1911, tab. 1; Blavatskij 1951, fig. 2.

% Zubar’ 2000, 187.

The barracks

There were some rooms that belonged to a few other
buildings situated east of the baths and the neighbour-
ing street running from the north to the south (Figs 2.5,
5.2). The plans included in some of the publications
show slightly larger fragments of the buildings discovered
on the opposite side of the street.” A number of small
rooms are visible, located along the above-mentioned
artery, probably arranged in two rows.”” Zubar’s suppo-
sition seems correct that there was a barracks building
standing on the eastern side of the above-mentioned ar-
tery, with its exits facing the street.”

Similar rooms (four or six in pairs) have been marked
as located east of the bathhouse.” The building that they
composed must have been situated on the extension
of the line determined by the bathhouse, i.e. along the
W-E axis. The building with the rooms in two rows was
similar in dimensions to that of the bathhouse and was
located on the longer extension of the baths’ axis.” Even
though it was ignored by some of the researchers, it was
included in Rostovcev’s and Blavatskij’s plans.”

%4 Rostovcev 1911, tab. 1; Blavatskij 1951, fig. 2.
% Orlov 1988, 19.
%6 Rostoveev 1911, tab. 1; Blavatskij 1951, fig. 2.
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The remains of a similar building were discovered
during the construction of an electric beacon east of the
bathhouse in 1948. According to Orlov’s account, far-
ther to the east from the lighthouse, similar rooms were
discovered during the construction of utility buildings,
which he interpreted as barracks and generally dated to
the 2*4-3" century AD. However, excavations were never
conducted in this area.”

In summary, based on the quoted references and
markings on the plans, it can be presumed that, so far,
fragments of three or four barracks buildings have been
discovered in the vicinity of the lighthouse. All were
situated on the eastern side of the street west of which the
baths were located. One part of the barracks was erected
parallel to the aforementioned artery, opposite the al-
leged headquarters building; the second — perpendicu-
larly to the street, directly opposite the bathhouse build-
ing. The third, about whose orientation it is difficult to
state anything with any certainty, was located slightly far-
ther to the east. It might perhaps have been placed on its
longer axis, along the N-S line, as this is more or less the
orientation of the modern-day utility buildings located
east of the lighthouse, the construction of which led to
the discovery of these alleged barracks.

A tower at the peak?

In the same area, in 1876, the foundations of an un-
identified round building (Fig. 2.6) were probably de-
stroyed during the construction of the lighthouse keeper’s
house north of the lighthouse.” D’4kov suggested that
the ancient signal tower (the lighthouse) must have been
located west of the modern-day building of the same
function. However, the researcher did not provide any
rationale behind his hypothesis.”” It does not seem very
probable, as the highest point at the cape is situated pre-
cisely in the spot where the above-mentioned house and
the modern-day lighthouse are located. D’akov himself
mentions that the bathhouse slightly farther to the west
was constructed on a terrace situated at a lower point,
probably formed directly before the construction of the
buildings within the fort.!”

If we assume that in the period of the functioning
of the Roman fort a tower of some sort was needed at
the Cape in order to signal passing ships, then it should

%7 Orlov 1988, 19.

% Orlov 1988, 19.

2 D’akov 1930, 25.
100y’3kov 1930, 25.

0 Novi¢enkova 2015, 151.
12 Firsov 1975, 96.

193 Blavatskij 1951, 280.
104 Rostoveev 1900, 96.
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have been located in the same place as the modern-day
lighthouse and the lighthouse keeper’s house."” If this
was the case, the mentioned remains of a round building
might have been the traces of a lighthouse erected by the
Romans.

The inner wall
The course of the fortifications and its length

The inner wall (Fig. 2.7) was similar in shape to
a semi-circle and enclosed the peak of the hill in a de-
fensive perimeter. Especially from the north and the east,
the fortifications were constructed in such a way that the
steeper lower parts of the slopes were left in the forefield.
Both ends of the wall reached as far as the cliff which pre-
vented access to the cape from the south.'? The internal
section of the fortifications was about 380 m long,.

The structure of the curtain wall

The wall was erected on a substruction made
from fine broken stone, gravel, clay, and lime mortar.
The dump after the ruined wall reached 7 m down the
slope and was up to 1 m thick.!”® According to Rostovcey,
the south-western fragment of the wall was 5.5 m wide
at its base.™ Blavatskij’s research, conducted also in
the western part of the fortifications, indicated that the
width of the wall amounted to about 3 m.' In turn,
Firsov was of the opinion that the curtain was 2.0-2.5 m
thick.' Elsewhere, it was stated that the width at the base
amounted to between 1.8 and 2.4 m. Higher up, the cur-
tain must have been narrower, as the preserved remains of
the external and internal faces of the walls are at an 80—85
degrees angle.'”” Both wall fronts were made from large
and medium-sized stone blocks. The filling inside the wall
consisted of fine stones mixed with clay, but admixtures
of lime mortar have also been encountered.’®® The mortar
was also supposed to have bound the stone wall fronts.!”
Allegedly, the wall was also covered with lime plaster,
while in its upper parts it consisted exclusively of small
stones bound using the same kind of mortar.™

It can be inferred from Orlov’s reports that in the
western part of the fortifications, the inner wall was
thickened by 1.8-2 m. On this basis, the researcher

195 Blavatskij 1938, 373; Blavatskij 1951, 280.

106 Birsov 1975, 96.

107 Zubar’ 2000, 182.

198 Blavatskij 1938, 373; 1951, 280; Orlov 1988, 25-26; Firsov
1975, 96, 100.

19 Firsov 1975, 98.

10 Orlov 1988, 26-27.
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estimates that the rampart walk on the rebuilt curtain
might have been 2-3 m wide. The thickening of the
wall is supposedly a trace of the adaptation of the for-
tifications enabling the placement of catapults, as is also
indicated by the numerous finds of stone balls in this
part of the fort.™ It is worth noting that the joint width
of the curtain wall (along with the thickened part) in
the discussed fragment amounts to almost 4.5 m. Thus,
the observations made in Orlov’s studies are similar to
those cited by Rostovcev.

Based on the gathered information, it can be stated
that the fort’s inner defensive wall was constructed in
a very similar manner to the fortifications erected by the
Romans around the watchtower on Kazatskaya Hill and
in the fort in Balaklava-Kadykovka."? In the case of both
mentioned sites, the curtain consists of two wall fronts
made from irregular blocks of stone and an interior filled
with fine stone and clay. However, there are no traces
of the use of lime mortar in these walls. In Balaklava,
mortar was used in the construction of the turrets by
the gate, erected at a later point in time."® In the case
of both curtain walls cited as analogies, traces of a ditch
were found in the forefield. The one on Kazatskaya Hill
has been especially well-preserved. It is not deep, but the
cross section in the shape of letter “V” is clearly visible.™
The remains of the wall at this outpost are 1.9-2.5 m
wide at the base, while the fragment of the curtain wall
discovered in Balaklava was slightly narrower at its base
(1.3-1.4 m). Traces of the thickening of the walls, which
in Balaklava also amounted to 1.3-1.4 m, were found at
both sites, added from the internal side.’ These examples
of the thickening of the walls were located near the gates
and have been interpreted as remains of structures used
to ascend the walls (ascensus). At Aj-Todor, this structure
for ascending the walls (a ramp?), added to the internal
sides of the fortifications, might have been located at the
south-western edge of the walls, where the curtain wall
was supposedly even 5.5 m wide." The significant width
of the alleged ramp may have resulted from the need to
bring ballistae to the top of the walls. The abutments on
the internal side of the discussed wall, which broadened
the curtain by 0.8-1.0 m, are perhaps yet another trace
of the adapration of the fortifications to the use of ballis-

Orlov 1985, 332; 1988, 21.

"2Sarnowski ez al. 2002,169; 2007, 61; Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski,
Saveld 2013, 125, figs 5:3-4, 8:1-2, 9:1-2; Karasiewicz-
Szczypiorski 2015a, 62, 76; 2015b, 57.

115 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski, Savela 2013, 125-127.

14 Sarnowski, Savelja, Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2002, 168-169;
2009, 60; Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 76.

5 Sarnowski er al. 2002, 169, figs 2, 14; 2009, 61, fig. 3;
Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski, Saveld 2012, 177, figs 1:1, 2; 2013,
124-125, figs 1:1, 5:3—4.

163

tae, as is the depository of stone balls discovered slightly
farther to the north."” The reinforced curtain might have
aided in the placement of the ballistae, similarly as did
the turrets. A thickened fragment of the wall, which
might have been introduced in order to broaden the ram-
part walk, was also found on Kazatskaya Hill. However,
in this case, a type of buttress was added onto the ex-
ternal surface of the wall."®

It can be inferred from the data published by Orlov
that first 500 and then later over 700 balls made from
gravel (Russian galka) were found in the vicinity of the
above-mentioned wall fragment at Cape Aj-Todor."? Such
balls were also found during subsequent excavation sea-
sons in various parts of the fort."” The stone raw material
mentioned in the publications allows for the supposition
that the Roman garrison used pebbles from the nearby
beach as projectiles. In the information provided about
the discovery of the first deposit of balls, mention is made
that their average diameter amounted to about 15 cm."!
Previously, Blavatskij had mentioned finds of balls “the
size of fists”."** The researchers sometimes provided infor-
mation about the diameters of the stone projectiles in their
publications but did not make any remarks concerning
their weight. It can only be supposed that they weighed up
to 4.7 kg.'”® However, from the newest studies of the collec-
tion of shots from the excavations at Cape Aj-Todor, kept
in various museums in Moscow, it can be inferred that
the projectiles vary in terms of their mass. The heaviest
among them weigh from 1.5 to almost 2.3 kg.**

The turrets

There is no information in the publications about
any remains of turrets by the inner wall or about the
ditch in the forefield.!® It seems that this older wall was
erected without any additional fortifications. The wall
at the Kazatskaya outpost may serve as an example of
the application of a similar solution. It was constructed
on a circular plan, while the only extension of the de-
fensive perimeter found during the excavations came in
the form of the above-mentioned buttress in the north-
eastern part of the wall. In all probability, this but-
tress enabled one ballista to be placed on the widened

116 Rostoveev 1900, 96.

7Orlov 1985, 332; 1988, 27; 1988, 26-27.

18 Sarnowski ez al. 2002, 169, figs 2, 14; 2009, fig. 3.
9 Orlov 1978, 366; 1980, 115-116.

120 Orlov 1984, 309; 1985, 331.

21 Orlov 1978, 366; 1980, 115-116.

122 Blavatskij 1951, 289.

123 Cf. Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 94.

124 7y ravlev, Kamelina 2015.

125 Orlov 1988, 25; Zubar’ 2000, 183.
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fragment of the rampart walk (probably more as

a demonstration of strength than out of any real need).

The gates

The gate was supposedly situated in the north-
western fragment of the fortifications, but its traces are
at present no longer visible (Fig. 2.12).”%¢ The results of
studies done in order to prepare a new plan of the fort at
Cape Aj-Todor suggest that the gate in the internal wall
must have been located along the line linking the main
gate in the external wall with the previously discussed
alleged headquarters building. This would be an example
of a standard solution applied in almost all the forts and
camps from the Principate period. A straight road (via
praetoria) presumably ran from the porta praetoria to the

principia building.

The area between the inner
and outer walls

The expansion of the fortifications through the con-
struction of a new wall in the forefield of the old fortifi-
cations led to the enclosure of additional space within the
defensive perimeter. The estimates provided in the liter-
ature on the subject indicate that the area of the strong-
hold was increased at that time from 2 ha to 6 ha or
from 2.5 ha to 4.5 ha. The distance between the external

126 Zubar’ 2000, 183.

127 D’akov 1930, 33; Firsov 1975, 95.

128 Blavatskij 1938, 373; 1951, 261, 278, 291.
129 Blavatskij 1951, 261.
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Fig. 6. Fort at Cape Aj-Todor.
Nymphaeum 11 as preserved

at the beginning

of the 21+ century (photo

by R. Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski).

and the inner walls oscillates in various places from 40 to
80 m, while the open area between the two walls amounts
to about 2.5 ha."” There were supposedly no buildings
in this open space, and it was supposed to have served
as a refuge.'”® Blavatskij’s opinion could have been based
on his own research results. He did not encounter any
architectural remains, and the preserved cultural layer
was only 0.2 m deep and located directly on the rock.””
The reason behind the lack of any buildings was suppos-
edly the “lay of the land” or the terrain.”® It can be pre-
sumed that the steep slope of the hill constituted an ob-
stacle for the builders. It seems that as a result the eastern
part of the discussed area was the least suitable for con-
struction of any type of buildings. Nevertheless, Dakov
claimed that the entire space between the two walls,
as well as the area beyond the walls, had been settled.™
This part of the fort was only to a small extent ex-
cavated. Nevertheless, a water reservoir was found
in the north-western part of the area between the
walls,®? and it was referred to in the literature on the
topic as Nymphaeum 11 (Figs 2.9, 6). In terms of its
construction, this tank is supposedly very similar to
Nymphaeuwm 1.%° At present, this is one of the few struc-
tures available on the surface of the ground and open
for visitors. However, there are no traces of steps which
would have led down to the bottom of the basin ana-
logically to those in Nymphaeum 1. This allows us to
assume that the similarity lies rather in the dimensions,

130 Firsov 1975, 96.
Bl D’akov 1930, 29.
132 Rostoveev 1911, 3.
13 Orlov 1988, 21.
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which were not provided in the published material.
It can also be presumed that there were analogies between
the brickwork and the mortar used in the two reservoirs.
In fact, the Nymphaeum 11 walls were also constructed
from broken stone; however, there are no visible traces
of any mortar insulating the inside of the structure.

In terms of the method and extent of the utilisation
of the space between the fortification lines, it is difficult
to come to any far-reaching conclusions, as apart from
the area directly around Nymphaeum 11, no larger ex-
cavation works have been conducted there. Only vari-
ous fragments of the external walls have been excavated.
However, during the work carried out in the north-
western part of the fortifications, remains of a building
that was adjacent to the curtain wall from the inner side
and the accompanying cultural layers were encountered
at least once.? The mentioned accumulation near the
unidentified building was up to 2.5 m thick. This same
author also mentioned the remains of a few buildings ac-
companied by accumulations that were not very thick."

In my opinion, there are no analogies or logical argu-
ments that would justify a significant increase of the fort’s
surface and the length of its fortifications without taking
advantage of the additional terrain protected by the forti-
fications. The examples from Chersonesos and Balaklava-
Kadykovka indicate that upon moving the previous for-
tification line even slightly, the areas left after the walls
had been knocked down were immediately used for the
construction of new buildings.”*® The situation should be
similar in the discussed case. As the south-western part of
the open area between the walls was not completely devas-
tated and lies outside the modern-day military unit, there
is hope that in the future it will be possible to conduct new
archaeological studies on this terrain. As a result, it will
probably be possible to establish whether the area between
the fortification lines was utilised, and if so — how.

The external wall

The outer fortification line is situated at the bottom
of the hill, allegedly 60 m below the inner wall (Figs 2.10,
7.a—d)."” The discussed section of the fortifications was

134 Orlov 1978, 366; 1988, 22.

13 Orlov 1988, 24-25.

136 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2001, 63; 2015a, 65; 2015b, 60;
Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski, Savela 2013, 124-131.

157 Zubar’ 2000, 181.

138 Orlov 1988, 23.

139 Cf. Keppen 1837, 192.

140 D’akov 1930, 21.

' Orlov 1988, 24, fig. 1.

42 Keppen 1837, 191.
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supposed to have been 550 m long,'*® even though accord-
ing to the first known measurements taken this amounts
to only 550 steps (1), 7. 185 fathoms.™ To the west and to
the east, the wall ended at the edge of the cliff.

The course of the fortification

Dikov emphasised that the fort was not typical, as
the fortifications were constructed according to an ir-
regular plan, reminiscent of a semi-circle.'®® Orlov noted
that the seemingly unpredictable course of the wall
might indicate the existence of bends in the external for-
tifications. However the researcher did not present any
proposals concerning their course on the composite plan
of the site that he had prepared.'

The existence of a bend was documented in a sketch
made by Keppen in the 1830s.12 One bend in the middle
part of the wall, east of the gate closing off the area of the
lighthouse, was also discovered recently by Novi¢enkov
and Novicenkova.'”® Their investigations also confirmed
the existence of at least one rectangular turret in the
middle section of the fortification line, which was added
onto the internal side of the defensive wall.%4

With the results of Novi¢enkov and Novicenkova’s
research at our disposal, we can with all certainty state
that the outer wall, at least in its middle part, ran along
a broken line. The aforementioned researchers, referring
to Keppen and the results of their own excavations, es-
tablished that there had been at least two bends in the

external wall.'¥

The structure of the curtain wall

Various fragments of the external wall differ in terms
of the applied construction techniques.*® A significant
part of the central section in its lower parties is made of
irregular stone blocks. At its base, this part of the curtain
wall has the width of between 4.6-5.4 m'¥ to 5.5 m."®
The external wall face slants at an 82-85 degrees angle,
while the internal one at a 75-77 degrees angle. Similarly
as in the case of the inner wall, two wall faces were erected
from large stones, while the spaces between them were

filled with small stones and clay.'

143 Novic¢enkov, Novi¢enkova 2002; Novicenkova 2015, 292,
294; 2017, 292, 294.

144 Novi¢enkova 2017, 289-290.

% Novi¢enkov, Novicenkova 2002, 33, fig. 3; Novi¢enkova
2015, 152-153; 2017, 289, fig. 1.

146 Novi¢enkova, Novi¢enkov 2005, 241; Novicenkova 2015, 151,
155.

47 Orlov 1988, 24.

148 Rostowzew 1902, 89; Firsov 1975, 97.

% Firsov 1975, 97; Orlov 1988, 22.
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Fig. 7. a—d. Fort at Cape Aj-Todor. The outer wall to the east of the modern road to the lighthouse as preserved at the beginning of the
21* century (photos by R. Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski).

The western part of the wall was supposedly con-
structed very differently from its central part.”™ In this
fragment, the curtain wall is 2.2-2.4 m wide at its base
and was erected on the rock. However, the wall was
(at least partially) located on an older cultural layer con-
taining a significant amount of ash admixtures, as well as
on a substructure consisting of clay and stones.™

Finer stones were used in the making of the wall face
in this fragment than in the case of the middle part of the
wall.’” Based on the depth of the dump located in front
of the wall, its original height is estimated to ¢. 3 m."”
Firsov, analysing the tilt angle of the wall face, suggested
that the height of the curtain wall may well have reached
as high as 7-8 m."* In its eastern fragment, the wall sup-

posedly reached the width of 6 m.”

150 Blavatskij 1951, 276; Novi¢enkova, Novi¢enkov 2005, 241;
Novicenkova 2015, 151, 155.

5! Blavatskij 1938, 373; ¢f. Novi¢enkova 2017, 294-295.

152 Orlov 1988, 24; ¢f. Novic¢enkova 2017, 294.

153 Blavatskij 1951, 278.

154 Eirsov 1975, 97.

155 ’akov 1930, 21; Orlov 1988, 23.

In the lower parties of the wall, traces of the use of
lime mortar were also encountered during excavations.”
Keppen also informed about the use of such binding
material in his description of the alleged turret located
on the internal side of the discussed fortifications.”’
In turn, Rostovcev emphasised that the external wall had
been constructed without the use of mortar.’®® Firsov cat-
egorically claimed that mortar had been used both in the
construction of the external face and the internal one of
the discussed section of the fortifications, as well as deep
in its core.”” In turn, Orlov observed traces of the use
of lime mortar in the western edge of the middle part
erected using large stone blocks. The mortar was sup-
posedly also present in the upper parties of the curtain
wall.’®® Traces of mortar were also found during last exca-

vations in the western part of the external wall.""!

156 Zubar’ 2000, 179.

7 Keppen 1837, 191, 193.

158 Rostowzew 1902, 89.

159 Firsov 1975, 99-100.

10 Orlov 1988, 24.
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It would seem worthwhile to comment on these
observations regarding the differences in the meth-
ods of constructing particular sections of the discussed
fortification section. The use of variously-sized stones in
different parts of the wall and the alternating thickness
of the curtain wall may indicate that the fortifications
were built by a few brigades using slightly different raw
material. A similar situation has already been observed in
Chersonesos along the curtain wall consisting of 17 wall
sections rebuilt at the beginning of our era, perhaps also
with the aid of the Roman army.'** The above-discussed
differences might also result from the stretching out of
the investment over time and changes in the original con-
cept during the construction of the structure.'® Similar
situations have been observed in other places, including
Hadrian’s Wall in Great Britain, for which in the west-
ern part the curtain wall’s stone fortifications were built
at a later point in time than the turrets. The toothing
construction located between the turrets, built earlier,
is broader than the curtain wall added on later. The width
of the toothing corresponds to the curtain in the eastern
part of the wall, which is somewhat older. In the quoted
example, it is clear that in the case of similar investments
the initial plan was later revised. The reasons behind this
might have been the lack of time, no labour force, or no
money. Blavatskij and Novicenkova point out that the
external wall might have been constructed in a hurry.'*
The former researcher emphasised that the fortifications
are rather reminiscent more of an embankment than an
actual wall."® Firsov noted that clay and not lime mortar
was used in the core of the wall (especially at its base).
In his opinion, this lowered the construction costs sig-
nificantly.'®® Novi¢enkov and Novi¢enkova were of the
opinion that the construction of a wall with bends re-
quired less time and costs than of a wall with turrets but

enabled a very similar effect.'’”

The turrets

Most of the publications regarding the fortifications
at Cape Aj-Todor provide information about the turrets
at the external wall, the remains of which, however, have
not been preserved (Fig. 2.11). The only researcher who

162 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2014, 91-94; 2015a, 4647, 54.
163 Cf. Novicenkova 2015, 151.

164 Blavatskij 1951, 281; Novi¢enkova 2015, 151.

16 Blavatskij 1951, 291.

166 Eirsov 1975, 100.

167 Novi¢enkov, Novi¢enkova 2002, 33.

168 Firsov 1975, 96.

19 Keppen 1837, 191, 193.

170 Rostowzew 1902, 90, fig. 3; Rostoveev 1911, 3; D’akov 1930,
21; Blavatskij 1951, 250; Orlov 1988, 23; Zubar’ 2000, 180.
7' D’akov 1930, 22.
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claimed that the external wall was not reinforced by tur-
rets was Firsov.'%®

The first to mark one rectangular structure on the in-
ternal side of the discussed fortification line on his plan
of the site was Keppen.'® The structure, located 200 steps
from the sea, was supposedly 13 x 7 steps in dimensions,
while the preserved ruins were made from stones in lime
mortar bonding. In 1909, a rectangular turret measuring
6 x 4 m was discovered in the north-eastern section of
the external wall, with foundations that were 1 m thick.
The wider side of the structure adjoined the inner face of
the curtain wall.”® The turrets also supposedly flanked the
main gate in the north-western part of the external wall.”

In addition, one semi-circular turret was allegedly
visible somewhere in the bend of the wall."” It is almost
certain that this refers to the same turret, the existence of
which in the middle section of the fortifications was con-
firmed during the last excavations conducted at this site.
The alleged semi-circular shape of this structure may have
resulted from the rounded corner of the bend in which
the turret was situated.”? One other piece of informa-
tion about a rectangular turret, next to which a third gate
(perhaps a door?) was located, refers to the north-western
section of the wall."”* However, in this case, discrepan-
cies among the opinions expressed by various authors
are obvious. D’akov, while writing about the discussed
fragment of the fortifications, assumes that it was rather
a doorway aiding in the defence of the main gate that
was located in this spot. However, the researcher does not
mention any turret there.””

The gates

A gate with the width not exceeding 3 m, which
should have served as a passageway to the nearby har-
bour in the bay, was located in the north-eastern section
of the external wall (Fig. 2.12). This gate was used as an
exit leading to a nearby temple (Fig. 2.13).”¢ The main
gate was probably situated in the north-western segment
of the external wall, more or less in the spot where the
road leading to the lighthouse currently cuts through
the remaining traces of the fortifications or somewhat
to the east of this road.”” It was supposedly flanked by

2 D’akov 1930, 20, fig. 7.

173 Novicenkov, Novic¢enkova 2002, 33; Novic¢enkova 2015, 153;
2017, 289.

74 Orlov 1988, 24; ¢f Novi¢enkova 2017, 289.

75 D’akov 1930, 21, fig. 9; ¢f Novicenkova 2017, 289.

176 Rostowzew 1902, 90, fig. 3; Rostovcev 1911, 4; D’akov 1930,
21-22; Novicenkova 2015, 154.

77 Rostovcev 1911, 3; D’akov 1930, 22; Orlov 1988, 23;
Novi¢enkov, Novi¢enkova 2002, 28; ¢f. Novi¢enkova 2015, 153;
2017, 289.
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turrets, while the gateway was allegedly even 10 m wide.”®

However, Orlov claimed that there were no traces what-
soever of the existence of such structures.”””

Perhaps a third gate (or a doorway?) was located in
the north-western segment of the wall. This additional
passageway through the curtain wall, with the width of
2.5 m, was allegedly situated at a distance of 129 m from
the cliff and 70 m from the inner wall."®° Firsov claimed
that only one gate existed in the western part of the ex-
ternal wall, more or less in the same spot as the discussed
passageway.'™! Zubar’ was of the opinion that there were
three gates reinforced by turrets in the external fortifica-
tions, and that the only confirmed turrets were situated
next to the gates.'®

Taking into account the newest research results and
approaching the unverified earlier reports with caution,
it can be assumed that the external line of defence had
been reinforced with turrets and bends. These bends were
located only in the middle section, while the turrets were
situated also in the eastern and western sections, adja-
cent to the gates that presumably must have been located
there. If not all of the turrets, then at least most of them
were erected on a rectangular plan on the internal side of
the perimeter wall. In the case of the external fortifica-
tions, information is lacking regarding a possible ditch in
the forefield of the wall. The fortifications were built with
the use of a variety of construction techniques and diverse
building materials on a plan similar to that of a triangle.

Extramural area (extra muros)

The research conducted thus far has only to a small
extent encompassed the area beyond the fort. As a result,
only one building and some other traces of a settlement
can be mentioned. The interpretation and dating of at
least part of the discovered remains raises certain justi-
fiable doubts; however, there is usually no possibility of
verifying the published data. Another frequent issue is
the lack of any preserved documentation, as signalled by
subsequent authors.

The shrine outside the east gate
(with dedications by beneficiarii consularis)

The remains of a small temple were discovered in
1907 about 30 m north-east of the gate from which

78 D’akov 1930, 22.

179 Orlov 1988, 23.

180 D’akov 1930, 22, fig. 9; Orlov 1988, 24.

¥ Firsov 1975, 96, fig. 1.

182 Zubar’ 2000, 181; ¢f Novicenkova 2015, 153-154; 2017, 289.
185 Rostovcev 1911, 4; ¢f- Zubar’ 2000, 189.

184 Rostoveev 1911, 5, no. 2, 6, no. 3.
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a road ran in the direction of the wharf at the nearby
bay (Fig. 2.13). The building was almost definitely origi-
nally located next to this road. The appalling state of the
architectural remains made any attempts at reconstruct-
ing the plan of the building impossible."® Modern-day
researchers are also unable to make any such attempts as
no documentation for the research conducted in this area
has been preserved (perhaps none was ever compiled?).
Two altars were extracted from the ruins.”®* There were
some Latin inscriptions on the altars, both dedicated to
Jupiter “lovis Optimus Maximus”. A third similar altar
was found by coincidence a year earlier (at a spot located
at a distance of about 170 m to the west), during level-
ling works conducted in a nearby vineyard (Fig. 2.15)."%
A collection of 12 votive reliefs and their fragments also
originates from the temple ruins, and these elements have
been identified as traces of a cult of Thracian origin.'® The
mentioned reliefs made from marble bear representations
of: Dionysus (three times), the Thracian Horseman (two
times), Mitra (two times), as well as Hermes, Hecate, and
Artemis. One relief has not been identified.’¥

A second temple beyond the walls —
west of the fort?

On the property belonging to Prof. Maly$ev before
the revolution, to the west from the fort, two more vo-
tive reliefs were found (without their context), shattered
into pieces."™ The considerable distance from the above-
described temple prompted at least some of the re-
searchers to conclude that a second temple had existed
beyond the fort walls (Fig. 2.14)."” Both reliefs presented
Artemis. This was supposed to be a proof that an undis-
covered shrine had been dedicated to this goddess.””

However, so far no research has been conducted in
this area, and the hypothesis about the existence of a sec-
ond temple cannot be verified. Nevertheless, after the
passage of one hundred years, it seems highly unlikely.
It must be remembered that one of the three known altars
was found at some distance from the temple, in which it
is almost certain that the altar had been located. This is
indicated by the similarity between all the three known
altars. It is also probable that the original reliefs exhib-
ited in one temple were later scattered around the area.
Not only the two reliefs with Artemis (loose findings from

185 Rostovcev 1911, 4-5, no. 1, tab. L:a; D’akov 1930, 31; ¢f
Blawatsky, Kochelenko 1966, 24.

186 Rostovcev 1900, 1-42.

187 Rostoveev 1911, 13-16; ¢f. D’akov 1930, 31; Blavatskij 1951,
256-258; Blawatsky, Kochelenko 1966, 23-25.

188 Rostovcev 1911, 165 ¢f. D’akov 1930, 32; Blavatskij 1951, 258.
1% Rostovcev 1911, 16-17; ¢f- D’akov 1930, 30.

0 Rostoveev 1911, 16-17; D’akov 1930, 32; Blavatskij 1951, 258.
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Malysev’s plot of land) but also one complete plaque and
a fragment of another one originating from different parts
of the fort were found at various distances from the shrine
with dedications by beneficiarii consularis. One of these
reliefs presents the Thracian Horseman and bears a Latin
inscription, while the other features a Greek-sounding
woman’s name transcribed in Latin “[Parthe]nope”.!

Most probably, the temple (or temples) located extra
muros were privately funded by the soldiers or officers
and served to perform cult practices other than those of
the official worship.””? The same function was performed
by the Temple of Jupiter Dolichenus constructed at a dis-
tance of about 60 m from the fort in Balaklava. This
shrine was probably situated by the road leading out of
one of the castellum’s gates."

One significant difference between the temple at
Cape Aj-Todor and the one in Balaklava-Kadykovka
is that votive reliefs, preserved in full or in fragments,
were only discovered in the first location. There can be
no doubts concerning their connection to cults common
in the Balkan provinces of the Empire; however, their re-
lation to the Roman garrisons in Crimea is not as ob-
vious.” We know of no other similar finds either from
the Temple of Jupiter Dolichenus or in general from the
Roman fort in Balaklava and its surroundings. A number
of votive plaques were found in Chersonesos, but they
were scattered all across the town, while for example altars
with Latin inscriptions were found almost exclusively in
the close vicinity of the citadel occupied by the Romans.

The lack of documentation as well as of any possi-
bility of verifying the earlier excavations means that the
above-mentioned doubts will probably never be resolved.
However, by referring to the above-quoted material dif-
ferences between the attestations of the cults practiced
at Cape Aj-Todor, in Balaklava-Kadykovka, and in
Chersonesos, it is possible to speculate that they result
from a different composition of the vexillationes station-
ing in these garrisons.”” Perhaps the discovery of traces
of a Thracian cult is connected with the suggested sta-
tioning of soldiers from the I Thracum Syriaca equitara
cohort at the cape?®® The soldiers of this unit stationing in
Lower Moesia would have consisted of peregrini recruited
among the local population on the Balkan Peninsula.

Y1 Rostoveev 1911, 42, no. 2; IOSPE 12 679; Solomonik 1965,
99-102; Novychenkova-Lukychova 2014, 143.

92 Cf. Zubar’ 2000, 190.

1% Sarnowski, Savelja 2000a; Karasiewicz-Szcezypiorski 2015a,
72; 2015b, 67.

Y4 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 126-128.

5 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 176-181.

1% Sarnowski 1988, 80; Zubar’ 2000, 196-197; Matei-Popescu
2010, 234; Cf Spaul 2000, 366-367.

Perhaps, however, the findings of the votive plaques
extra muros point to the presence of an unidentified
group of civilian inhabitants living in a settlement out-
side the walls (vicus)?

The settlement beyond the walls

The majority of the scholars conducting research at
the site suggested the existence of a settlement near the
fort.”” In turn, Orlov emphasised that so far no traces
of cultural layers with a thickness and scope suggesting
a stable settlement have been found outside the walls.
Zubar’ drew attention to the finding of the above-
mentioned fragment of a votive relief with the female
name Parthenope. However, the researcher claimed that
it was too soon to claim the existence of a settlement next
to the camp.” The conjectures concerning the perma-
nent presence at Aj-Todor of civilians connected to the
garrison can also be supported by the interpretation of
votive reliefs from Chersonesos. The scattering of these
objects across different parts of the town (almost ex-
clusively outside the citadel) constitutes one of the ar-
guments supporting the hypothesis about a permanent
settlement of a group of civilians in the town, probably
originating mainly from the Balkan provinces of the
Empire.?® In the case of the finds from Aj-Todor, com-
ing mainly from the temple outside the fort walls, sug-
gestions have been made that the shrine served not only
the soldiers but also civilian inhabitants.?"

Due to the lack of any evidence that would indis-
putably confirm the existence of a settlement next to
the camp, researchers are probably doomed to remain
guessing. In an attempt to take into account all the traces
that might be linked to the discussed issue, it would be
worthwhile to focus on the altars originating from the
above-mentioned temple outside the fort walls.

One of the altars® was issued by a beneficiarius
consularis from the Eleventh Claudian Legion “pro
sa[lute)] sua er filiorum [...]”. Yet another altar was
issued by another beneficiarius consularis “pro sal(ute)
sua et sulor(um)]”** The funding of votive offerings
also on behalf of someone’s close ones may (but does
not necessarily) testify to the fact that civilians came
to Taurica together with the beneficiarii. Of course,

Y7 Rostoveev 1900, 152; 1911, 35, 41; D’akov 1930, 29-31; 1942,
75; Blavatskij 1951, 290.

198 Orlov 1988, 21.

199 Zubar’ 2000, 197; ¢f. Rostovcev 1911, 42.

20 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 42.

21 D’akov 1930, 31-32.

202 Rostovcev 1911, 5, no. 2; IOSPE 12 675.

203 Rostovcev 1911, 6, no. 3; IOSPE 12 676.
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it cannot be stated whether they reached as far as Cape
Aj-Todor, and if so — whether they lived extra or per-
haps intra muros. The example of Centurion Antonius
Proculus, also from the Eleventh Claudian Legion, who
almost certainly served in Balaklava, shows that his wife
and at least one daughter lived in Chersonesos.”** Thus,
it is impossible to determine whether the close rela-
tives of the Roman soldiers who arrived at the southern
Crimean coast lived at Cape Aj-Todor. However, it seems
justifiable to once again draw attention to the discussed
altars, which may serve as an argument in the discussion
on the topic.

The soldiers’ cemetery

A soldiers’ cemetery must have been situated beyond
the walls. It is possible that civilians connected to the
garrison were also buried there. Even if this was the case,
it does not apply to the later cremation burials dated to
the 3"-4% centuries AD.? The only material trace of the
cemetery, which presumably functioned as long as the
Roman army stationed at the fort, is a potential grave-
stone with a representation of a horseman and a Latin
inscription.?®® As in the case of the gravestone of a caval-
ryman from Balaklava-Kadykovka, this is the only piece
of evidence of a military burial ground at the forg*”
however, in Balaklava, information is available concern-
ing the find-spot of the stela and it can be assumed that

28 whereas the place of origin of

it was discovered in situ,
the discussed fort gravestone is uncertain. In the litera-
ture on the topic, the opinion is voiced that the plate was
purchased in the 19 century for the Voroncov collec-
tion (perhaps in Rome) along with some other objects.?”
However, it seems more probable that it made its way to
the palace in Alupka as a result of the excavations con-
ducted at Cape Aj-Todor supervised by the son-in-law of

the collection’s owner — Count Suvalov.??

The aqueduct

A fragment of an aqueduct made from ceramic pipes
was also found outside the fort. The pipeline runs in
the direction of the fort from the spring flowing to this
day on the slopes of Aj-Petri Mountain. It was discov-
ered outside the walls, about 700 m from Nymphaeum 1,

204 Sarnowski, Savelja 2000b, 197-205.

205 Blavatskij 1951, 262274, 291.

206 Rostoveev 1911, 38, tab. II1:3; D’akov 1930, 4; AE 1990, 871.
27 Savelja, Sarnowski 2000.

208 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015b, 53—54, 66.

209 Rostovcev 1911, 38.

20y’skov 1930, 6.
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to which it most probably led.”" The construction of
the water conduit can in all probability be dated to the
20 century AD.??

It seems almost certain that the aqueduct supplied
water to the waterless cape, all the more so since pipes
were also discovered somewhere within the area of the
fort.® However, it remains unknown at which point the
pipeline intersected the fortifications and whether only
one pipeline existed. It is also unknown how the water
was distributed around the fort. The aqueduct should
have first supplied water to the bathhouse located at the
highest point in the fort and then subsequently (gravita-
tionally) to all the reservoirs situated lower down in the
‘citadel’ (Nymphaeum 1) and in the area between the walls
(Nymphaeum 11).

Pottery production outside the fort walls

In the pertinent academic literature, opinions were
expressed about the convenient conditions in the vicini-
ty of the fort for the development of pottery production.
The localisation nearby a rich deposit of clay, well-known
for many generations and called “the clay pit”, was condu-
cive to this purpose.? It is also well-known that during the
construction of the Grand Duke Aleksander Mihailovis
house (west of the fort) a huge deposit of broken defective
pottery products was found; however, there is no informa-
tion available concerning the dating of this find.*

The above-mentioned dump of production ‘rejects’
(pottery kiln waste) evidences the functioning of a pot-
tery production facility near the cape. However, it is im-
possible to determine whether deficient ceramic building
materials were also found and whether the deposit can be
dated to the first centuries of our era. Berthier de Lagarde
emphasised (as did other researchers) the complete lack
of water in the closest vicinity of the fort.”® This is prob-
ably the main reason behind the lack of settlement activ-
ities since the end of the Roman Period up until mod-
ern times. The water supply system constructed by the
Romans functioned only until the fort was abandoned,
i.e. at the latest until the mid-3" century AD.?” Taking
into account this data, it can be assumed that pottery
production developed in this area only during the period
of the stationing of the Roman garrison. This is also in-
directly indicated by the discovery of the aforementioned

2 Blavatskij 1951, 260, 288, fig. 24: 6; Orlov 1988, 21.

22 Cf. Blavatskij 1951, 289.

3 Rostoveev 1911, 3; ¢f” Zubar’ 2000, 188.

24 Bert’e-Delagard” 1907, 25; D’akov 1930, 29.

25 Bert'e-Delagadr” 1907, 25; D’4kov 1930, 29; Orlov 1988, 21.
26 Bert'e-Delagard” 1907, 25; Orlov 1988, 22; Zubar’ 2000, 189.
27 Orlov 1988, 22, 27; Zubar’ 2000, 198.
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dump filled with pottery products in an area through
which the aqueduct ran, i.e. west of the fort.

The road running near the fort

Following the discovery of the temple outside
the fort walls and the altars set up by the beneficiarii,
Rostovcev assumed that the place of worship may have
been connected to a military outpost (szatio) next to an
important route or crossroads.”® Since then, some of the
researchers have postulated that a road ran next to the
fort, which may have linked the southern coast of Taurica
with Chersonesos.?” This hypothesis is frequently ac-
cepted indiscriminately and is the source of a profound
‘belief’, developed beyond measure in various areas of
Crimea, in the widespread system of Roman roads.??

It is worth emphasising at this point that the fort
at Cape Aj-Todor was constructed in the vicinity of the
most convenient natural passageway to the Yalta Valley.
However, I am not convinced that the road running from
the west was a route built and guarded by the Romans
that ensured a permanent passageway to Chersonesos.
It must be taken into account that the route through the
mountains was very long and uncomfortable, while its
maintenance and monitoring must have surpassed the
capabilities of the garrisons at Balaklava-Kadykovka and
Cape Aj-Todor, located as they were at some distance
from each other. Despite the inconvenient harbour,
it seems almost certain that the supplies for the fort were
delivered by the sea. In all probability, the land route,
which surely existed, had little significance for the trans-
port organised by the Roman army. Its role and safety
might have increased in later times. Most of the traces of
the nearby settlements are dated to as late as the Middle
Ages.?? Towns on the southern coast (e.g. Aluston) also
did not come into being prior to the 6 century AD.?»

Reaching for arguments closer to modern times,
it is worth noting that the traditional route (from the
direction of Sevastopol through the Baydar mountain
pass) was encountered on the southern coast by Adam
Mickiewicz, among others. Evidence for this comes in
the form of the subject matter of his Crimean Sonnets.
Nevertheless, even in later periods, the road leading to

218 Rostoveev 1911, 7, 9.

29 D’akov 1942, 80; Orlov 1988, 21.

220 See, among others, Lancov 2003; Zubar’ 2003, 120-121;
for arguments against this claim, see Sarnowski 1989, 85;
Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 102, 130.

21 Bert’e-Delagard” 1907, 25.

222 Dombrovskij 1961; Orlov 1988, 18; ¢f D’akov 1930, 18;
Sarnowski 1989, 85.

2 Dombrovskij 1961, 166; Myc 2002, 16.
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Yalta from the west was marked on maps as a minor
route. Even in the beginnings of the 20% century, the
tsar’s family was transported from Sevastopol to the
palace in Livadia (Yalta) by the sea!

Due to the numerous doubts regarding the need for
the existence of a land route that would have run next to
the cape and its quality, it can be assumed that the army
stationed at the fort would have monitored the move-
ments of the local population heading to the Yalta Valley
rather than of some Roman army columns or convoys
transporting supplies.

Dating the site

The general chronological framework for the fort at
Cape Aj-Todor has for a long time been dated to the pe-
riod between the mid-1* to the mid-3" century AD.?
Such dating was supposed to be confirmed by the finds
of coins, among which the oldest were specimens issued
during Galba and Vitellius’s reign, while the youngest
— during Gordian IITs. However, the research results so
far have not provided any evidence for Roman building
activities in the 1 century AD. The only trace of any
construction works conducted during this period is sup-
posed to have been a roof tile with the stamps VEX / G
RAV S P, found in a secondary context.”” As a result of
the conducted physico-chemical analyses and the rein-
terpretation of the inscriptions on the stamps, we cur-
rently know that the building material signed using the
above-mentioned stamps was only made in the second
half of the 2™ century AD.?*® The new dating is con-
nected to the reading of the inscription which mentioned
a centurion of the Eleventh Claudian Legion?”” and the
opinion expressed in the literature on the subject that
there was no squadron of the Ravennate Fleet on the
Black Sea in the I century AD.??® In connection to the
cited research results, it can be stated that as of yet evi-
dence is lacking concerning the presence of the Romans
at Cape Aj-Todor in the I** century AD.

The remains of canals, which most probably served
the purpose of draining rain water from the area of
the later bathhouse and from the neighbouring alleged

24 Rostowzew 1902, 92-93; D’akov 1930, 33; Blawatsky,
Kochelenko 1966, 25-26.

225 Zubar’ 2000, 184, 197.

226 Sarnowski 2006c¢.

227 Orlov 1988, 21; Sarnowski, Zubar’ 1996, 229-234; Zubar’,
Sarnovskij 1997, 50-59; Zubar’ 2000, 194-195, fig. 195 2005,
59-63, fig. 3, no. 4; ¢f- Sarnowski 2006¢, fig. 1.

228 Sarnovskij 2006; Sarnowski 2006a; 2006b.
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headquarters (see above, “The central building’), are the
first (oldest) trace of building activities at the discussed
site. The canals made from broken stone and in the form of
gutters insulated with lime mortar were destroyed during
the construction of the mentioned buildings.*”® Based
on the above-mentioned building inscription, which was
probably related to the construction of the baths, stamps
on bricks from pilae, stratigraphy, and small finds,
the construction of the bathhouse can be dated to the
mid-2" century AD at the earliest.?*

The altar funded by Marcus Geminius Fortis,”!
dated to 118/119-121/122 AD, can be acknowledged as
the earliest dated trace of the stationing of the Roman
garrison.”? According to Zubar’, the arrival of the Roman
army was a result of the peace reached by Hadrian on the
other territories and his withdrawal from a number of
areas conquered by his predecessor. Basing the hypothesis
on the dating of only one inscription does not give us any
certainty regarding the actual date of the arrival of the
Romans. The above-mentioned altar might have been set
up after a few or even a few dozen years of the presence
of the garrison in the mentioned fort. Therefore, it can-
not be excluded that the beginnings of the army presence
at Cape Aj-Todor, similarly to other places in Taurica
(Balaklava-Kadykovka, Chersonesos), might date to the
final period of Trajan’s reign.”?

A trace of the presence of the Romans dated to the
beginnings of the 2" century AD might also come in the
form of one of the layers distinguished during Orlov’s
excavations, which — based on the fibula found during
his explorations — has been dated to the turn of the 1*
and 2™ centuries AD.?** Thus, the results of the research
conducted so far, enable delimiting the beginnings of the
Roman army presence at the cape to the first decades of
the 2" century AD.

The evacuation of the garrison supposedly occurred
in the first half of the 3" century AD.* The departure
of the Romans may have entailed deliberate dismantling
of a part of the fortifications and buildings.” It should
be added that so far traces of ‘pre-Roman’ settlement are

2 Orlov 1982, 298-299; Blavatskij 1951, 288.

200rlov 1988, 24, 26.

21 Rostoveev 1911, 5; IOSPE 12 674.

232 Sarnowski 1989, 78, tab. 3; Zubar’, Sarnovskij 1997, 54;
Zubar’ 2000, 192.
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24 Orlov 1978, 366.
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26 Orlov 1988, 27.

%7 Blavatskij 1951, 261, 280.
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1951, 245.
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lacking, while some material (pottery) has been found
that might be dated as later.””

One of the arguments indicating the presence of
the Romans up until at least the mid-3" century AD
was the above-mentioned Gordian IIT’s bronze coin.”®
However, Zubar’ presumed that the evacuation might
have occurred earlier, i.e. in the mid-230s.”* It should
be remembered that in the context of the research con-
ducted thus far at the fort, this later coin is an isolated
find. Its link to the cremation cemetery should be
taken into account, as the burial grounds began to func-
tion probably somewhere around the mid-3" century
and are dated to the period from the second half of the
34 to the first half of the 4% century AD.?* The two
oldest Roman coins from the graves are Trajan’s and
Gordian IIT’s issues.**

The last renovation of the rooms added onto the in-
ner wall of the fort supposedly took place in the mid-3+
century AD.?** An uncleared dump was registered in the
baths, containing roof tiles signed with the stamps VEX
/' G RAV S P and LEG XI CL, as well as LE XI CL.*#
It is important to note the presence in the discussed
dump of roof tiles with the stamps of the Eleventh
Claudian Legion, which were placed on the roofs con-
structed (or only repaired) in the first half of the 3 cen-
tury AD.*** As a result, it can be assumed that the fort at
Cape Aj-Todor was abandoned at the same time as, for
example, the fort in Balaklava-Kadykovka or the watch-
tower on Kazatskaya Hill, that is ¢. the mid-230s.2#

In summary, it can be stated that, considering the
present state of research, there is no evidence of the
stationing of the Roman army at Cape Aj-Todor both
in the 1* century AD and in the 240s AD.

Construction phases and their dating

In various sections of their excavations, both
Blavatskij and Orlov distinguished three construction
phases.?* The division into three phases proposed by
the quoted researchers still seems to be valid. However,
it was necessary to verify the suggested dating and revise

29 Zubar’ 2000, 198.

240 Blavatskij 1951, 274, 290-291; Orlov 1978, 366.

241 Blavatskij 1951, 290-291.

242 Orlov 1980, 115-116.

23 Orlov 1984, 310.

244 Sarnowski 2006c, 94, 97-98; Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski
2015a, 174-175.

5 Sarnowski er al. 2009, 59; Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a,
36, 62, 78; 2015b, 58; ¢f- Filippenko, Alekseenko 2000.

246 Blavatskij 1951, 254, 288, 289, 291; Orlov 1988, 18.
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the correlation of the stamped bricks and roof tiles with
the subsequent vexillationes stationed at the cape. Such
specification was possible thanks to the analyses of the
clay used for the production of the ceramic building ma-
terial from various places of the stationing of the Roman
detachments in Crimea.?"

The stamps on the bricks and roof tiles found during
the excavations conducted at Cape Aj-Todor belong to
three types:*#

PER.L-A.C > / LEG-I.IT-PRAEP / VEX-MOES.INF
(type 2,** type 14%°)

Per L. A(---) C(---), > (centurionem) | leg(ionis)
I Ifalicae) praep(ositum) | vex(illariorum
or —illationis) Moes(iae) inflerioris)™'

These stamps are the earliest ones at the discussed
site. The use of building material signed using these
stamps can be dated to Antoninus Pius or early Marcus
Aurelius and linked to the construction activities of the
vexillatio exercitus Moesiae Inferioris. At other sites, VEMI
stamps are the most frequently encountered stamps
linked to this unit. According to the information on the
discussed stamp from Aj-Todor, this vexillatio included
officers from the First Italic Legion.*

VEX / G RAV SP (type 1, type 13%1)
Vex(illarii) G. Rav(onii ?) Sp(erati 2)*>

Contrary to the previously dominant opinions,
stamps of this type do not constitute traces of the pres-
ence of the Ravennate Fleet, and they should not be dated
to the 1* century AD.?® These are probably equivalents
of the VEX and VEM stamps known from Balaklava-
Kadykovka and Kazatskaya Hill. The ceramic material
signed with these stamps is perceived as linked to the
building activities of the Roman garrisons from the pe-
riod of the reigns of Marcus Aurelius and Commodus.
At this time, soldiers of the First Italic Legion still con-
tinued to be a part of the vexillationes in Taurica, but the
presence of a centurion of Claudius’ Eleventh Legion has
been attested.?’

47 Sarnowski 2006¢; Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 174-175.
248 Blavatskij 1951, 254; Orlov 1988, 18; Zubar’ 2000, 190, 289.
2 Blavatskij 1951, 254; Orlov 1988, 18; Zubar’ 2000, 190, 289;
Novycenkova, Novycenkova-Lukyceva 2009, 68—69, figs 8-9.
20 Sarnowski 2006¢, 97.

21 Sarnowski 2006¢, 97.

»2Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 174-181.

23 Blavatskij 1951, 254; Orlov 1988, 18; Zubar’ 2000, 190, 289;
Novyc¢enkova, Novycenkova-Lukyceva 2009, 62-68, figs 1-7.
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LE XI CL; LEG XI CL (type 3,”® types 4 and 15*)
Le(gio) XI Cllaudia); leg(io) XI Cllaudia)*®

The Eleventh Claudian Legion stamps®' are found
in the largest number of sites connected to the presence
of the Romans in Taurica. The roof tiles signed with these
stamps usually constitute an addition to an older roof on
which the majority of the tegular material has the earlier
VEMI stamps. Type 15 (according to Sarnowski) is a vari-
ety of the same kind of stamp as that which appears only
at Cape Aj-Todor. Both variants can be referred to the
period of Septimius Severus’ reign and of his successors,
and may be linked to the construction activities of garri-
sons dominated by the soldiers and officers of Claudius’
Eleventh Legion. In all the known Roman outposts in
Crimea, this is the latest dated signed ceramic material
used for construction and renovation.

In summary, the above-described architectural re-
mains, juxtaposed with information about the stamped
building material, allow for distinguishing three con-
struction phases. However, perhaps further research will
support a more detailed division.

Phase 1 applies to some faint traces of buildings (pri-
marily water installations), the construction of which can
be dated either to the final period of Trajan’s reign or the
beginnings of Hadrian’s. The discussed remains do not
correspond to any other types of building ceramic used
at the cape. So far, there have been no examples of stamps
of the Fifth Macedonian Legion, which are linked with
the construction activities of the vexillatio of this army
unit in Chersonesos in the analogical period.

Phase 2 was distinguished for the architectural re-
mains of the majority of the discovered buildings. It can
be dated to the second half of the 2™ century AD.
The tegular material from various sites seems to indi-
cate the need for distinguishing two separate phases
within the framework of Phase 2: a construction phase
(during Antoninus Pius’ reign) and a renovation phase
(during Marcus Aurelius’ reign). The first of these is sig-
nalled primarily by the presence of the following stamps:
VEMI (in Chersonesos, Balaklava-Kadykovka, and on
Kazatskaya Hill) and PER-L-A-C > / LEG-I.IT-PRAEP
/ VEX-MOES-INF (Aj-Todor). The second is evidenced

24 Sarnowski 2006¢, 96-97.

5 Cf. Sarnowski 2006c, 97.

6 Sarnovskij 2006; Sarnowski 2006a; 2006b.

7 Sarnowski 2006¢, 92, fig. 1.

8 Blavatskij 1951, 254; Orlov 1988, 18; Zubar’ 2000, 190, 289;
Novy¢enkova, Novycenkova-Lukyceva 2009, 69-70, fig. 10.

29 Sarnowski 2006¢, 94-95, 97.

260 Sarnowski 2006¢, 94, 97.

61 Sarnowski 20006c, type 4.
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mainly by the finds of VEX stamps at the above-listed
sites and VEX / G RAV SP at the cape.

Phase 3 manifests itself in the reconstruction and
expansion of various buildings (e.g. the expansion of the
bathhouse, the construction of the external fort wall).
This increased construction activity has been linked to
the presence of a detachment dominated by soldiers from
the Eleventh Claudian Legion, as confirmed, among
other things, by the stamps on the building ceramics: LE
XI CL, LEG XI CL. This phase is dated to the period of

the reign of Septimius Severus and his successors.

Assigning the buildings to the phases
The bathhouse

Based on Orlov’s research conducted in the balnea
area, three construction phases can be distinguished:
Phase 1 — before the baths were constructed (the only
known traces are the above-mentioned canals); Phase 2
— the construction of the small bathhouse (the southern
row of rooms); Phase 3 — the expansion of the bathhouse
(the addition of the northern row of rooms). This di-
vision results from the published reports showing that
two layers of plaster were registered on one of the balnea
walls, while two floor levels were also preserved in one
of the rooms. It seems very significant to note the in-
formation that the lower (older) floor was divided from
the upper one by a levelling layer about 0.7 m thick.>*
Similarly levelled layers were registered between ana-
logical floor levels in Balaklava-Kadykovka and at the
Chersonesos citadel %

The central building

Three phases were also distinguished during the
excavations of the alleged headquarters building.?*
Similarly to the neighbouring bathhouse, Phase 1 pre-
ceded the construction of the discussed building (in
this case also only the canals for draining water were in-
cluded). A monumental building was constructed in
Phase 2, preceded by levelling works. The existence of
Phase 3 is indicated by the presence of two floor levels
registered during the excavations. The lower floor level
would have belonged to Phase 2, while the higher one to
Phase 3. Similarly, in this area both levels are separated by
a levelling layer, but its thickness has not been precisely

established.

262 Orlov 1978, 366; 1984, 310.

263 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 28, 63.
264 Blavatskij 1951, 288.

26 Blavatskij 1951, 281-282.

The rooms next to the inner wall

Two floor levels were also registered during the ex-
cavations of some of the rooms added onto the internal
face of the defensive wall. The higher level was supposed
to have been located ¢. 20 cm above the lower one and
referred to the activities of the Eleventh Claudian Legion
at the end of the 2™ century and in the first half of the 3
century AD.?® On this basis, the floors observed during
the excavations can be qualified as traces of construction
activities in Phase 2 and in Phase 3.

Nymphaeum

The water basin located in the area fortified by the
inner wall was insulated twice using layers of mortar.?*®
This might indicate that it was constructed at the latest
in Phase 2 and renovated in Phase 3. Blavatskij dated
the construction of the tank to the second half of the 1%
century AD, while the addition (construction) of the ag-
ueduct to the 2™ century.?®” Correcting this information
so that it is in accordance with the current state of knowl-
edge, the supposition can be put forward that the reser-
voir was constructed in Phase 1 and may initially have
been linked to the above-mentioned canals for drain-
ing water from the area on which the later bathhouse
and central building were erected. In Phase 2, a newly
constructed water conduit was attached to the reservoir.
The nearby baths from the very beginning almost cer-
tainly must have had stable access to water, which, con-
sidering the local conditions, could only have been en-
sured by an aqueduct. Thus, it can be assumed that the
entire system for bringing rainwater to Nymphaeum 1
must have been formed before the construction of the
bathhouse, i.e. in Phase 1.

The inner wall

Two phases have been distinguished for the inner
wall. Traces of the reconstruction of the fortifications
were observed by Orlov, who dated the discussed fortifi-
cations to the 2"-3" centuries AD.?*® Fragments of roof
tiles with the stamps VEX / G RAV SP were found in
the structures of the abutments added from the inside
to the curtain wall.?® Thus, it is probable that the wall
was constructed in Phase 2, simultaneously to the con-
struction of the baths, and renovated in Phase 3, more or
less at the same time as the expansion of the bathhouse.
The fragments of the stamped roof tiles would have

266 Blavatskij 1951, 282.

267 Blavatskij 1951, 289.

268 Orlov 1985, 331-332; 1988, 21, 27.

269 Blavatskij 1951, 280; Orlov 1985, 331-332; 1988, 26.
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found their way into the added or reconstructed part
during the renovation, i.e. in Phase 3.

The external wall

Orlov dated the external fortification line to no
earlier than the 2™ century AD.?° In turn, Firsov claims
categorically that this was a one-phase structure, and the
external wall might have been constructed later than the
internal one.” A fragment of a roof tile with the VEX
/' G RAV SP stamp was found in a cultural layer in the
forefield of the external fortifications.”* In my opinion,
the find comes from the destruction (levelling?) layer
formed before the construction of the external wall. This
hypothesis seems to be confirmed by the fact of the reuse
of fragments of similarly stamped roof tiles in the con-
struction of the curtain wall.?”? It can thus be assumed
that the wall was built in Phase 3. Similarly, the dating of
the external wall follows from the analysis of the pottery
from Blavatskij’s excavations, as well as from an analy-
sis of the stratigraphic layout observed during last exca-
vations conducted by Novi¢enkova.”* In her opinion,
the wall was built in the 2™ century AD.?””> However,
it is important to remember that Antoninus Pius’ coins
determined the terminus post quem for the beginning of
construction works.

The significant enlargement of the fort could have
been connected to the doubling of the area of the bath-
house (Phase 3). The differences in the construction of
various segments of the new fortifications can, in turn,
be explained by the simultaneous work of a few different
building crews or by breaks in the construction and mod-

ifications of the original concept.?®

The fort and its immediate surroundings.
Towards a periodisation of the settlement
history of the site

An important element of the analysis undertaken
herein is the attempt to prepare, based on all the avail-
able data, a more transparent and complete plan of the
fort (Fig. 2). The remains of all the buildings and their
parts that appear on various plans and/or are mentioned
in different publications have been taken into account.
In addition, information from the above-presented

70 Orlov 1988, 24; ¢f: Novi¢enkova 2015, 151.
1 Firsov 1975, 97-98.

772 Blavatskij 1951, 278.

273 Kamelina 2012, 58.

274 Kamelina 2012; Novi¢enkova 2017, 295.
275 Novi¢enkova 2015, 151, 153.

stratification of some buildings into construction
phases was used.

Phase 1

It seems justified to use the term “Trajanic’ to refer to
this phase, analogically as in the case of other discussed
Roman bases in Taurica.””” It can be assumed that during
this period, the fort encompassed only the area of the
so-called ‘citadel’, i.e. the peak of the hill encircled by
the inner wall. We are not fully certain as to the course
of the fortifications during this period. However, in all
probability, the fortifications had the same contours as in
Phase 2. The only hint in this regard might be the local-
isation of Nymphaeum 1. The reservoir, which may have
been constructed as early as in Phase 1, lies within the
area of the fortifications from Phase 2.

The canals used for draining water belong to the ear-
liest phase. They were probably linked to Nymphaeum 1
in order to make the collection of rainwater more ef-
fective, since in the discussed period the fort was not
yet catered for by a water supply system. At this point,
it is worth noting that at the fort in Balaklava-Kadykovka
similarly only the canals delivering and draining water
as well as the remains of a tank and inspection manhole
have been preserved from Phase 1 (the Trajanic phase).”®

It is very probable that the temple outside the fort
walls at Cape Aj-Todor was also constructed in the dis-
cussed phase. This assumption can be based on the dat-
ing of the oldest of the known altars dedicated to Jupiter,
which was founded in 118/119-121/122 AD.

Phase 2

The buildings considered to be from this phase were
constructed during the reigns of Antoninus Pius and/
or Marcus Aurelius. A vexillatio of the Lower Moesian
army under the command of a centurion from the First
Italic Legion, and later a formation under the command
of a centurion from the Eleventh Claudian Legion, were
stationed at the cape during this period.?”

The above-mentioned remains from the previous
phase indicate that the new garrison appropriated a place
that the Roman army had already been using, but this
happened after a break lasting a few decades. The poor
state of preservation of the remains from the previous
phase may have resulted from the destruction of the

276 Cf. Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2014, 915 2015a, 46.

777 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 23-24, 60-61; 2015b, 56-57.
78 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski, Savelad 2012, 174, figs 1.6-7, 3, 4,
5; 2013, 123.

779 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 174-181.
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buildings and fortifications by the army leaving the cape
in the first half of the 2™ century, or it may have been
an effect of the passage of time, the elements, or human
activities. The results of the research conducted thus far
do not resolve these doubts. However, it is almost certain
that the exceptionally modest remains of the buildings
from Phase 1 are also a result of the levelling of the ter-
rain, traces of which were observable during the excava-
tions. This probably stemmed from the need to prepare
the area for the construction of new buildings. It can be
assumed that the groundwork included not only levelling
the surface but also terracing the terrain. The garrison
of the Balaklava-Kadykovka fort also conducted levelling
work, and perhaps also demolition, before initiating the
construction in Phase 2, destroying most of the earlier
remains in the process.?®

The inner wall (without any turrets) and the build-
ings within the area defended by the fortifications were
constructed during the discussed phase. The buildings
constructed during this period include the bathhouse,
the central building next to the baths (the principia?),
the rooms next to the perimeter wall opening out into
the circuitous street, as well as the barracks east of the
bathhouse. The baths and Nymphaeum 1 were linked to
the aqueduct that was constructed during the same time.
The road coming out of the supposed headquarters
building probably led to the main gate (Fig. 2.4, 12).
If this supposition is correct, then the fort — despite its
seemingly utter irregularity — maintained the funda-
mentals of the order used in the construction of other
castella. The rounded course of the fortifications and the
addition of the row of rooms on the internal side of the
curtain wall enable noting certain similarities between
the fort at the cape and the outpost constructed in the
same time-period on Kazatskaya Hill.? This comparison
also indicates that the fort at Cape Aj-Todor was not an
absolute exception in terms of the construction solutions
used by the Roman garrisons.

The beginnings of the buildings included in Phase 2
should be dated, by analogy to the Temple of Jupiter
Dolichenus in Balaklava, to the period after 138 AD and
connected to the construction activities of the formation
present in Taurica under the name wexillatio exercitus
Moesiae Inferioris, which included officers of the First
Italic Legion. The continuation of the building expansion
at Cape Aj-Todor, also considered to be a part of Phase

280 Cf: Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 60; 2015b, 56.

281 Sarnowski et al 2002, 169-170; 2009, 61; Karasiewicz-
Szczypiorski 2015a, 77-78.

82 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 176-181.

8 Sarnowski, Savelja 2000a, 38, 88; Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski
2015b, 57-58.

284 Rostovcev 1911, 5, no. 2; IOSPE 12 675.
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2, was conducted by a detachment under the command
of a centurion from the Eleventh Claudian Legion. This
may have occurred during the reign of Marcus Aurelius.?*
The Phase 2 structures should thus be correlated to the phase
of the same number distinguished in the case of the Roman
buildings in Balaklava-Kadykovka and Chersonesos. The
Dolichenum was constructed in Balaklava during this pe-
riod, as was the praetorium along with its neighbouring
buildings and the fort’s defensive wall.*

The temple outside the walls at Cape Aj-Todor
continued to function or was rebuilt in Phase 2. At this
time, the second of the known altars dedicated to Jupiter
(found in the ruins of the shrine) was most probably set
up.?** The altar was supposedly made in the second half
of the 2" century AD.?®

Phase 3

Another period of increased construction activities
can be dated to the reign of Septimius Severus and his
successors. During this time, at the cape stationed a vex-
illatio probably dominated by soldiers from the Eleventh
Claudian Legion.

In a few places across the fort, a levelling layer was
observed separating the floor levels of Phase 2 from
those of Phase 3.2%¢ The thickness of the discussed layer
amounts to between 0.2 to 0.7 m. This has analogies with
the situation observed during excavations at Balaklava-
Kadykovka, on Kazatskaya Hill, and at the Chersonesos
citadel, where a similar layer was up to even 1 m thick.?®”

In this latest phase, a number of buildings were ren-
ovated, including the rooms adjacent to the inner wall
and the supposed headquarters building. The baths were
developed and the fort enlarged through the construction
of the external wall.?®® The inner wall was made thicker,
probably in order to enable placing ballistae on its crown.
The deposit of stone balls constitutes traces of the use of
ballistae. The new external wall probably had three gates.
The main one was erected on an axis which was probably
an extension of the alleged via praetoria. The external for-
tification line was probably constructed in a short time,
with a number of construction brigades working on it si-
multaneously. The curtain wall was strengthened through
the addition of at least a few turrets located on its internal
side. In the central section of the fortifications, the wall
ran in a broken line, increasing its defensive value. Among

285 Sarnowski 1989, tab. II.

286 Blavatskij 1951, 280-282, 288; Orlov 1978, 366; 1984, 310;
Zuravlev, Kamelina 2015, 191.

287 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2001, 65, 71; 2015a, 28, 63; 2015b,
58; Wrébel ez al. 2008, 102.

288 Cf. Novicenkova 2015, 151, 153.
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other things, another water reservoir (Nymphaeum 1I)
was built in the area between the walls. Its localisation
at a small distance from Nymphaeum 1 (but lower down)
allows for the supposition that after the tank outside the
inner wall had been filled up, the excess water from the
aqueduct flowed down (through a pipe) to fill up the new
reservoir as well. The temple continued to function out-
side the gate, leading eastward to the port.

In the light of the research conducted thus far, the
listed construction works should be linked to the use
of the youngest building material with the LEG XI CL
and LE XI CL stamps. An analogical situation has been
observed at Balaklava-Kadykovka and at the citadel in
Chersonesos. In Balaklava during this time, the prae-
torium was expanded, while the fortifications from the
western side were dismantled and moved farther into
the previous forefield, increasing the area encircled by
the walls.”®” In Chersonesos, as in the case of Aj-Todor,
the garrison baths were expanded.”® It seems highly
probable that the observed cases of increasing the area
enclosed by the defensive walls and the expansion of the
bathhouse might constitute traces of the enlargement of
the individual succeeding Roman garrisons in Taurica in
the first decades of the 3 century AD.

Conclusions

Summarising all these considerations on the fort
at Cape Aj-Todor, it should once again be emphasised
that evidence is lacking that would confirm the presence
of the Romans at this site in the 1 century AD. Only
minimal traces have survived from Phase 1 (probably
Nymphaeum 1 and the canals destroyed during the
construction of the bathhouse and the nearby sup-
posed headquarters building). Phase 2 involved the
construction of the inner wall, the bathhouse, the
above-mentioned central building (the principia?), and
probably also the water supply system as well as most of
the buildings of the so-called ‘citadel’. In Phase 3, the
baths were expanded, while the inner defensive wall was
thickened, and the other encountered buildings behind
this fortification line were renovated and reconstructed.
The fort was also enlarged through the construction of
the external wall.

8 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 62-67; 2015b, 58-61.
20 Karasiewicz-Szczypiorski 2015a, 28-30.

In the light of the above-presented attempt to divide
the architectural remains into phases and the results
of the studies and analyses of the building ceramics
from the places where the Roman army was stationed
in Crimea, it can be concluded that the fort at Cape
Aj-Todor was constructed and expanded at the same pace
as the fort and Temple of Jupiter Dolichenus in Balaklava-
Kadykovka and as the Chersonesos citadel’s interior.

It should be emphasised that the data available in
the publications concerning many of the excavations
conducted at the cape are patchy and often do not enable
answering many of the questions posed by modern re-
search. The supplementation and clarification of some of
this information and posing of new research hypotheses
is possible primarily due to the studies performed in the
1990s and at the beginning of the 21* century, conducted
mostly at other sites connected to the presence of the
Roman army in Crimea. Within this scope, enormous
significance should be attached to the Polish-Ukrainian
research of the Temple of Jupiter Dolichenus and the
remains of the fort in Balaklava-Kadykovka, as well as
of the watchtower on Kazatskaya Hill near Inkerman.
As a result of the work conducted there, it was possible
to distinguish and correlate the subsequent construction
phases at the listed sites and at Cape Aj-Todor. Based,
among other things, on the results of the said research,
a new proposal was formulated concerning the perio-
disation of the presence of Lower Moesian vexillationes
in Taurica.® Due to the lack of any perspectives for re-
search at the cape in the nearest future, analyses should
be conducted on the unpublished reports from the exca-
vations at this site stored in various archives.

The above-presented comprehensive comparison
and analysis focusing on only the published material ena-
bles stating that the fort was expanded at the threshold of
the 3 century, which almost certainly indicates the in-
tent to enlarge the garrison stationing there. Traces of an-
alogical changes at this same time can also be observed in
Chersonesos and Balaklava. Therefore, this suggests that
perhaps during the reigns of Septimius Severus and his
successors a more ambitious plan to reinforce the Roman
army presence in Taurica was being implemented.

Translated by Mitostawa Stepiers
Proof-reading by Maciej Talaga

21 Sarnowski 2006d.
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Pumckuit popt Ha Mpicy Ait-Togop (Xapakc) u ero okpyxenue. HoBblit B3I/ Ha CTapble OTKPBITHS

Papocnas Kapacesuy-Illpimépckmii

Pumckuit popt Ha mbicy Aii-Togop (Xapaxc) u ero okpyxeHue.
HoBbli1 B3I/ Ha CTapble OTKPBITUA

®opr Ha Mbicy Aii-Tofop sABIA€TCA OFHUM U3
MEePBbIX OTKPBITBIX ¥ IMPABWIBHO OTOXMIE€CTBIEHHBIX
MeCT JUCTIOKalMy puMcKoi apmuy B TaBpupe (puc.
1). HecMoTps1 Ha MHOTOKpaTHBIe MCCIETOBAHNS, Kpe-
IIOCTB BCe ellle OTHOCUTENIBHO c1abo n3yvena. Muorue
MaTepMasbl U3 PACKOIOK TaK 1 He BOIUIM B HAyIHBIN
obopor, 6ojee TOro, 4YacTh UX B pe3yabraTe OYpPHBIX
IpeBpaTHOCTell CyAbObI 6e3 BO3BPATHO yTpayeHa.
Crout, ogHaKo, epecMOTpeTb ¥ XOPOILO M3BECTHbIE
CBEJIEHNA, C LIe/IbI0 MX JIy4IlIero MOHMMaHuA. B aToM
MOTYT IIOMOYb Pe3yIbTaThl MCCHAENOBAHMI IIOCHIEN-
HUX JleCATWIETUII Ha APYTUMX OOBEKTaX, CBA3aHHBIX
C PUMCKUM IpuUCyTcTBUEM B TaBpupe, pexpie BCero,
B banaxnase-KagpikoBke (puc. 1).

Cpenu uccnefosaresieil O4eHb [OATO TOMUHUPO-
Basmo ybexxaeHue, 4To Ha MbIcy Aii-Tomop puMckmit
TapHM30H pacIojIarasncs ¢ cepeauusl I B. H.3. 1 fo ce-
penusl 111 B. H.5. Takas faTMpoBKa MOATBEPKAATACH
HAXOJIKaMJ MOHET, CpPefiyl KOTOPBIX Hambojee paHHU-
MU OBV 9K3€MIUISAPDI, SMUTUPOBAHHBIE B IPAB/ICHIE
Tamp6br M Butenus, a Hambomee MO3Hei - MOHeTa
BpeMeH npasnenns lopamnana III. OgHaxo pe3ynbTaTs
IIPOBE/IEHHBIX K HACTOAIIEMY BPEMEHU MCCTIETOBAHMI
He Jany JOKa3aTeIbCTB CTPOMUTENbHOM AaKTMBHOCTU
pumsaH B I B. H.9. CnefamMu 1eATEIBHOCTY 3TOTO Iie-
puozna Moryia OGbITh CTPOUTENbHAsE KepaMuKa C Kieii-
mamu VEX/G RAV § P, Haxopgumasa BO BTOPMYHBIX
KOHTeKCTax. brarogaps pusuko-xumMmdecknm aHaan-
3aM U TONKOBAHMIO HaJINCeNl Ha K/eiiMaX Tereph u3-
BECTHO, YTO BU3VPOBAHHBIN CTPOUTENbHDIN MaTepU-
aJI C YIOMAHYTBIMU K/IelIMaMy M3TOTOBIIANIM TONBKO
co Bropoit monosuHsl 11 B. H.9. [Ipennoxenne 6omee
IO3[JHEN JATUPOBKY CBA3AHO C IIPOYTEHMEM HAJIIICH,
ynomuHamwolell neatypuona XI Knasauesa nernona,
VI IOSIBJICHVEM B IO/IMKaIMAX MHEHNUA, 9TO B I B. H.9.
He 6bI/IO HMKAKOI 3CKafipbl PaBeHHCKOI (roTHINm Ha
YeproMm mope. OmmpasAch Ha pe3yabTaThl YIOMAHY-
TBIX MICCIIEfOBAHMI, MOXXHO KOHCTaTMPOBaTh HEXBaT-
Ky KaKux-/160 OKa3aTelbCTB JUCIOKALNIY PUMCKOTO
rapansoHa Ha Mbicy Ari-Togop B I B. H.3. HavanbubIi
HepUOJ, MIPUCYTCTBUA PUMCKON apMMM Ha 9TOM MeCTe
MO>XHO COOTHECTM TONIbKO C IEPBBIMU JECATUNETHA-
mu I B. H.3.

®opT momKeH 6bUT OBITH OKOHYATENTbHO TIOKMHYT
B KOHIe niepBoit nmonosuHsl 111 B. H.3. Ha npucyrtcreue
PMMCKOTO TapHM30HAa BIIOTH JO CEPENMHBI 3TOTrO
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CTO/IETVsI MOXKET YKa3bIBaTh HaxoAKa GpPOH30BOII MO-
Hets! [opauana II1. 3y6aps mpepmnonaras, ofHaKo, 4TO
3BaKyals MOIJIa OBITD U PaHblIle, T.e. B cepefyHe 30-x
ropos III B. H.5. Hy>kHO nMeTb B BUJY, YTO B KOHTEKCTE
NIPOBEIEHHBIX K HACTOSAIIEMY BpeMeH! MCC/IeTOBAHNUI
YIOMAHYTaA NO30HAA MOHETA AB/IAETCSA €NUHCTBEH-
HoJt Haxoakoil. CrrefyeT IpMHMMATb BO BHYMAHUE ee
CBA3b C PACIHOJIOKEHHBIM IOOIN30CTY MOTMIBHIKOM
C KpeMalusaMy, KOTOPbIi HauMHaeT (PYHKLIVOHMPO-
BaTh, BEPOATHO, yKe ¢ cepenuusl 11 B. H.3. 1 ucnonb-
3yeTcst 10 IiepBoit monoBuHbI IV BB. H.9. [IBe Hanbosee
paHHMe PUMCKI€ MOHETDI, IPOUCXOJAIINE U3 MOTHIIb-
HUKa, ObUIM BBIIYIEHBI B [IEPVOJ MpaBeHns TpasHa
u umeHHo Topanana IIL.

PestomMupys, MOXXHO KOHCTaTMpOBaTb, YTO Ha
HaCTOSAIIEM 9Talle MCCAEfOBaHMUI HET NPAMBIX [O-
Ka3aTe/bCTB MPUCYTCTBUA PUMCKOTO IapHM30HA Ha
mbice Ait-Topmop kak B I B. H.3., Tak u B 40-e roppI 111
B. H.9. 1 mosgHee. Hanbonee BeposATHO, YTO 0OBEKT
ObUI TOKMHYT OHOBpeMeHHO ¢ popToM B banmakase-
KapipIkOBKe 1 pyTMMM IOCTaMM B TIOTPaHMYHOI 30HE
xopnl XepcoHeca B cepepyne 30-x rogos III B. H.3.

CooTHolleHNe OTKPBITBIX Ha MaMATHUKE ap-
XUTEKTYPHBIX OOBEKTOB C Tpems ¢asamu, IIpemio-
keHHoe braBarckum u Op/ioBBIM, OCTaeTCsA BCe €llle
akTyanbHbIM. TeM He MeHee, He0OXOAMMO OBUIO HPO-
BECTM NEPECMOTP [AHHBIX JAaTMPOBOK U IPOM3BECTH
KOPPEeKTYPY KOppe/IALMM KIeiiM Ha KUPIIMYaxX 1 9epe-
nylle ¢ oYepeSHbIMU BeKcumsuusamu (vexillationes),
OMCIOLMPOBAaHHBIMY Ha MbICy. Takoe yTOYHeHMe
CTa/I0 BO3MOXKHBIM O7arofiapsi aHanmsaM IJIMHBL, U3
KOTOpOI1 6bI/Ia M3TOTOBJIEHA KJIEIMEHHAsl CTPOUTEIIb-
Has KePaMMKa, IPOMCXOAAIasd U3 MeCT JVCIOKAII
pUMCcKuX Bolick B KpbiMy, a Takoke 6/1arogapst aHammusy
cTparurpaduy ¥ apXUTEeKTYPHBIX OOBEKTOB Ha YIIO-
MAHYTBIX Bbllle MaMATHUKAX, TAKMX Kak bamakmapa-
KappikoBka n Kasaukad. IlomyyeHHBIe pe3ynbTaThl
II03BOJIV/IM ABTOPY JAHHOU Pa3pabOTKM MpPeIOKNATD
HOBYIO IIepMOAN3AIVIO NaMATHNKA I OTHECTU OTKPBI-
Thle K HACTOAIIEMY BpeMeHU apXUTEeKTYPHbIE 00beK-
TBI K TPEM CTIERYIOLMM (aszam:

®asa 1. K Hell OTHOCATCA HMYTOXKHBIE CIIEHBI ap-
XUTEKTYPHBIX CTPYKTYp (I7TaBHBIM 06pasom, BOfsI-
HBIX MHCTA/UIALNIT), BOSHUKHOBEHVE KOTOPBIX MOXKHO
JaTMpOBaTb WIM KOHLIOM IpasleHusa TpadHa umm
HavajJoM rocnopctsa ApnpuaHa. C yIOMAHYTBHIMU
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00BbeKTaMIU He COOTHOCUTCS HM OfIH U3 TUIIOB CTPO-
JTE/IbHONM KePaMMKY, HalJEHHBIX IIPY PACKOIKAX Ha
MbIcy. [Toka He 06Hapy>KeHO KMpIIYel MM YepeTTnIbl
c kneriMaMu V Make[JOHCKOTO JIETMOHA, KOTOPbI€ CBS-
3BIBAIOTCA CO CTPOMUTENDBHON aKTMBHOCTBIO BEKCUII-
nstuyn (vexillatio) sToit BoeHHOIT YacTu B XepcoHece
B aHAJIOTMYHBIN NIEPUO],.

MO>XHO HPEIIONOXKNUTD, YTO B 3TOT IEPUOF, GPOpPT
OXBaTblBa/ TOJAbKO TEPPUTOPMIO TaK Ha3bIBAEMOI
»LIUTafemn’, TO eCTb LieHTPa BO3BBIILIEHHOCTH, OTO-
POXEHHOJ BHYTpPEHHEN CTEHOi. Y Hac HeT IOTHON
YBEpEeHHOCTV OTHOCHUTE/IbHO XOfja YKpeIUIeHUI U3
aToro mepuopa. Hambomnee BeposTHO, OGHAKO, YTO Y
yKpeIUleHns OBUIO Takoe Ke odepTaHue, Kak B Pase
2 (puc. 2.7). EnuHCTBeHHOE yKa3aHMe Ha 3TO [aeT
pacnonoxenue Humpes I. EMxocTs, KoTopas Moria
BO3HMKHYTb y>xe B Pase 1, HAXOOUTCA B COCENCTBE
¢ oboponuTenvHoi creHon ®asel 2 (puc. 2.2).

K naubornee panHeit pase OTHOCATCS TaKXKe KaHa-
I, oTBOAsAIME BoAy. Hanbonee BeposATHO, 4TO OHU
coobmmamicy ¢ Humbeem I B mensax yrydiueHnsa Ha-
KaIl/IMBaHMA I0XIEBOJ BOODI, TaK KaK B 3TOT NE€PUOT,
dopr ene He 66UT CHAOKEH BOOIIPOBOIOM.

3mech ke CTOUT OOpaTUTh BHUMAHME Ha TO, YTO
u B dpopre B bamaxmase-KaznbikoBke co BpemeH Pasbr
1 («TpastHCKOII») TaK>Ke COXPAHMIINCD TONIBKO KaHAaJIbI,
TIOABOZAILNE ¥ OTBOJAIINE BOLY, M OCTaTKI €MKOCTH
UM PEBU3MIOHHOTO KOIOALIA.

Odenp BEpOATHO, YTO XpaM 3a CTEHAMM Ha MBICY
Ait-Tomop TakXe BO3HUK B 3TOT mepuop (puc. 2.13).
ITO MOXHO IPEIONI0XNUTh HA OCHOBaHUM JAaTHPOB-
K11 Hanboslee paHHETO U3 U3BECTHBIX a/ITapelt, OCBsI-
meHHbIX IOnuTepy, KoTOpEIT ObLT 3a/m0XKeH B 118/119—
121/122 ropax.

ITnoxas coxpaHHOCTb 06beKTOB Pasbl 1, BeposT-
HO, CBsI3aHa C pa3pylIeHNeM IOCTPOeK M YKPeIIeHn
TapHM30HOM, MTOKNJAIOIVIM MbIC B IIEPBOIl ITOJIOBMHE
II B. H.3. MMM XXe SABAAETCA CNENCTBUEM MENIEHHOTO
HeICTBMA BpeMeHM, CTUXWII M mofeil. PesynbraTbl
IIPOBEIEHHBIX NCCIENOBAHMII HE II03BOJISIOT OFHO-
3HAYHO PELINTb 3TOT BOIIPOC.

Pa3sa 2. 6bI1a BbIfleNleHa HA OCHOBAHNMM M3YYeHNS
APXUTEKTYPHBIX OCTATKOB OONBIIMHCTBA OTKPBITBHIX
coopykeHuir. OHa MOXKeT OBITh HaTMpPOBAaHA BTOPOI
nonoBuHoi II B. H.3. ABTOp CUMTaeT, YTO HAXOHKU
K/IeIMEHHBIX 4Yepelul], 0OHapy>KeHHBIX Ha Pas3HBIX
[IaMSATHMKAX, YKA3bIBAIOT HA HEOOXOMMOCTD BBIfjeTIe-
HIA B OyAyIieM elre 1BYX ¢as B mpefenax camoit Gasbl
2: crpoutenpHOlI (B paBieHne AHTOHMA IIna) u pe-
MOHTHOI1 (B mpaBneHye Mapka ABpenns). Ha nepsyro
yKa3bIBaeT, MpexJe Bcero, Hammume Kneim: VEMI
(Xepconec, bamaxmaBa-KagpikoBka, Kasankas) wu
PER-L-A-C> / LEG-I'IT-PRAEP/VEX-MOES-INF (Ait-
Tomop). Bropyio mopTBep>KAAOT, [TaBHBIM 00pasoM,
Haxopku kineiiM VEX Ha yIIoMAHYTBIX BbIle 00beKTax
n VEX/G RAV S P Ha mbicy.
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B stoT nepuop mpic Aii-Topop 3aHMMasa BeKCHUII-
JIALVS HYDKHEME3UIICKOM apMUH T10J, KOMAaH/I0BaHMEM
HeHTypuoHa us I ViTanmiickoro nernoHa, a moToM BO-
uHCKOe (GOpMUpPOBaHUe MOf, KOMaHJOBAHUEM LIEHTY-
puoHna ¢ XI KaBamesa nernona.

CocTosiHMe ONMCaHHBIX BbIIE APXUTEKTYPHBIX
octaTkoB Pas3pl 1 yKaspIBaeT Ha TO, YTO HOBBII TapHM-
30H 3aHAT TEPPUTOPUIO, YK UICIIONb30BAHHYIO paHee
PUMCKOJM apMMeli, HO, BEPOATHO, 3TO MMENO MECTO
CIyCTsA HECKONbKO fAecATmneTuii. HuuroxHo Mamoe
KOJIMYEeCTBO OCTATKOB PAaHHUX COOPYXXKEHMII, OTMe-
YEeHHOE BO BpeM: PACKOIIOK, SIBIAIETCSA, CKOpPee BCETO,
pesynbraToM 0Gojiee MO3/JHENl HUBEMMPOBKY [JaHHOI
MECTHOCTHU IIpU MOATOTOBKE TEPPUTOPUMU M1 HOBOI
sactporikn. Hambonee BeposSITHO, 4TO IPOBOAMMBIE
B 9TO BpeMsI 3eM/IsIHble PabOTbI COCTOSIIU He TONBKO
B BbIPAaBHMBAHIM IIOBEPXHOCTH 3€M/IN, HO TaKXe U ee
TeppacupoBaHuy. CTOUT BCIIOMHUTD, YTO TapHU30H
¢dopra B banaxmaBe-KajplkoBKe B Takoil >ke IepuoOf,
(T.e. Tepex MOCTPOIKOIl COOPY>KEHUII, OTHOCSIINX-
¢ x Pase 2) Toxe IIPOBel HUBEIUPOBOYHBIE PabOTHI
(a, BO3MOXHO, 1 pasbOpKy HMPeXHUX COOPY>KeHMIl),
YHUYTOXUB OONMBIINHCTBO CIIEfOB O0jee paHHel 3a-
CTPOJIKMU.

Ha mpicy Ait-Tomop B ®ase 2 moABIANTCA BHY-
TpeHHss cTeHa (6e3 ballleH) U 3aCTPOIiKa Ha TePPUTO-
p¥M, OXpaHAeMOl TUM YKperieHueM (puc. 2.7). beim
noctpoensl Tepmsl (puc. 2.3, 4.6-11, 5.3), LeHTpanb-
Hoe 37aHue psigoM baueit (principia?) (puc. 2.4, 5.1),
HOMeIeHs IPY 00OPOHNUTENbHOI CTeHe, BBIXOAALINE
Ha OKPY>XHYI0 ymuy (puc. 2.1), 1 Ka3apMeHHbIe Hapa-
KJ K BOCTOKY OT 6aHu (IO KpaiiHeil Mepe, 3 3aHus)
(puc. 2.5). Tepmsr u Humdeit I npucoegyummm x mo-
CTPOEHHOMY B 9TOT IIEpPUOJ, aKBENYKY. YN, BbIXO-
[AIas U3 IpeArnonaraeMblil KOMEHATypbl, Hanbosee
BEpPOATHO, BeNa K IIEHTPaIbHBIM BopoTaM (puc. 2.8).
Ecnu 9T0 nIpenmonoxenye BepHoe, TO GOPT, HECMOTPS
Ha BMJVIMOCTb COBEPLIEHHON MPPETYIAPHOCTH, CO-
XPaHsII OCHOBBI IIOPSAKA, IPUMEHSIEMOTO B GO/IbIINH-
CTBE PUMCKUX YKpeIUIEHWiI B Iepyof, NPMHIMIIATA.
XOf yKpeIUIeHuIT 110 TMHUK, TPUOTVDKEHHON K 4acTu
OKPY>KHOCTM, ¥ IIPUCTPOIIKAa Cepuy IOMELIEHUI I10
BHYTpPEHHell CTOpOHe KYPTMHBI, II03BOJIAET YIaBIu-
BaTb CXOJCTBO MEXJY AaHHBIM GOPTOM U BOSHUKIIUM
B 3TO >Xe BpeMsA IOCTOM Ha BbicoTe Kasamkad. JTo
CpaBHeHNe ITOKa3bIBaeT, YTO PopT Ha MbICY Ati-Topop
He 6bIT aGCOMIOTHBIM VICK/IIOUEHMEM B IIPUMEHsIeMbIX
PUMCKVIMU TapHM30HAMI CTPOUTENIbHBIX PEIIeHNAX.

BosHMKHOBeHME OCTPOEK, oTHOCAmMXCA K Pase
2, creoBao Obl HAaTUPOBATD, 110 AHATIOTMU C XPaMOM
IOmmtepa [lomuxena B bamakiaBe, mepruopom mocnie
138 roma H.3. ¥ CBA3BIBATH C NPUCYTCTBYEM BOMHCKO-
ro (opMMpOBaHMsA, BBICTYMAIOIIErO B TaBpupe IIOX
HasBaHueM vexillatio exercitus Moesiae inferioris, B co-
CTaB KOTOPOTO BXOAMIM o¢uiepsl (1, CKopee BCEro,



Pumckuit popt Ha Mpicy Ait-Togop (Xapakc) u ero okpyxenue. HoBblit B3I/ Ha CTapble OTKPBITHS

conparel) I Mramuiickoro nermoHa. BeposrHo, mpo-
TODKEHNe CTPOUTENBCTBA (POPTA, OTHOCSIIETOCH ellje
K ®ase 2, IpOBOAVII OTPSJ, BO3I/IAB/IAEMBII IIEHTyPU-
onoM XI KnaBamesa nernona. 9To MOIJIO MMETb Me-
cTo B mepuop npasierys Mapka ABpennsi. O6beKTsl
daspl 2 cremyeT COOTHOCUTB C (hasoif C TaKMM Ke
HOMEPOM, BBIIEJIEHHON I PUMCKUX COOPYKEHUI
B banakmase-KapgbikoBke m murtagenyu XepcoHeca.
B sror mepuop B banakinaBe BO3HUK lonuxeHwnii,
a TaKoKe IpeTopuil (pretorium) BMecTe CO CMEKHBIMMI
3OAHVSIMIU U KPEITOCTHBIMY CTeHaMu (opTa.

B nepnop @asb1 2 Ha MbIcy Ail-Topop nmo-npexxHe-
MY (PYHKIIMOHUPYET MM BOCCTAHABIMBACTCS XPaM 3a
crenamn (puc. 2.13). B ato Bpewmsi, ckopee Bcero, Obu1
3aJI0)KeH BTOPOIl 3 M3BECTHBIX a/lTapeif, HOCBAILIEH-
HbIx IOmmTepy, 0OHapyXXeHHBII B CBATMWINLIE. DTOT
aznTapb laTUpyeTcA BTOpoit monosuHoii II B. H.9.

®da3za 3. Ha nporskeHnu 1ol hasbl COOPY>KeHbI
WIN TIePecTpOeHbI s 06beKkToB. IIoBbIIeHHas CTPO-
UTeNbHAA aKTUBHOCTD CBA3BIBAETCA C IPUCYTCTBYEM
OTpALa, COCTOSIIETO, TTTABHBIM 06pasoM, u3 conpar XI
KnaBauesa nermnoHa, 4To MOATBEP)KAAETCA KIeiMaMu
Ha ctpoutenbHoit kepamuke: LE XI CL u LEG XI CL
(TMm, M3BeCTHBII B0 CHX ITOP TOJIBKO 10 VICCTIEIOBAHN -
aM Ha MbIcy Aii-Topop). ®asa 3 gaTupyeTrcs nepmuopgom
npasnenns Centumus CeBepa U €T0O IPEEMHIKOB.

Ha rteppuropum ¢opra B HeCKONbKMX MecTax
OblTa OTMedyeHa BBIPABHUBAIOLIAA (HUBEIMPOBOU-
Has?) IpOCIoliKa, pasfensBIlas iBe Pa3HbIX JHEBHBIX
noBepxHocTy ®aspl 2 u Paspr 3. TommmHa JaHHOTO
cnost Konebnercs B mpepenax ot 0,2 no 0,7 M. IT0 sAB-
JIEHME€ aHAJIOTMYHO BBbIABIEHHBIM BO BPEMs MCCIEN0-
Banui1 B banmaknaBe-KagpikoBke, Ha BoicoTe Kasarikas
U B IuTafienny XepcoHeca, Ifie MOffoOHbIe C/IOY TOCTU-
rajy Jake MeTPOBO TOJIIVIHBI.

B Teuennme Paspl 3 6bIIM OTPEMOHTMPOBAHBI
IIOMeIlleHNsI BO3jie BHYTPEHHEN CTeHbl U IIpefIlo-
nmaraeMas KoMeHparypa (principia) (puc. 2.1-4, 5.1).
Pacumpens! Tepmsbl 1 yBenudeH ¢opT, 6marogapsi mo-
CTpoiike BHelIHell cTeHbl (puc. 2.10, 4.1-5). Tonmmaa
BHYTpEHHel CTeHBbI OblIa YBelIMYeHa, CKOpee BCETo,
st TOrO, 4YTOOBI Ha Hell MOIIM ObITh YCTAQHOBJIEHBI
MerarenbHble opyaua (puc. 2.7). KocBeHHbIM foKa-
3aTe/IbCTBOM JIIsI 9TOTO CIy>XKaT OOJIblIMe 3amachl Ka-
MEHHBIX sifiep, 0OHapYy>keHHbIe BO BpeMsI PacKOIIOK.

B HOBOII BHeIIHEl! CTeHe ObIINE COOPY>KEHBI, TIpefi-
HIOJIOXKUTENIBbHO, Tpoe BopoT (puc. 2.12). I'maBHble BO-
pora ObUIM IOCTPOEHBI HA OCH, IPEACTABIIAIOLIEN
co60i1 yoanHeHMe IpefIonaraeMoil via praetoria, Ko-
TOpasi COeAUHsNA LieHTpanbHOe 3faHue (principia?)
C BOPOTaMy BO BHyTpeHHeli cTeHe (puc. 2.8). BHemH:Asa
JIVHMA YKpeIUIeHUII BO3HUKIIA, CKOPee BCETO, B Teye-
HIe OYeHb KOPOTKOTO IepNOfia, M HaJl ee COOpYyKe-
HIUeM paboTamM BMeCTe HECKONIbKO CTPOUTEIbHBIX
6purag. Kypruna 6suta ykpernnena 6aurasmu, pasme-
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LIIeHHBIMM 10 ee BHYTpeHHell cropoHe (puc. 2.10-11).
B meHTpanpHOI YacTM YKpeIUIeHUs CTeHa ObUIa IIO-
CTpO€Ha II0 JIOMAHHOJ JVMHUY, YTO TaKXKe yBeINdu-
BajIo ero 06OpOHUTENbHBIE JOCTOMHCTBA. Ha Teppu-
TOPUM MeXJLy CTeHaMy ObUI IIOCTPOEeH, IOMVMO IIPO-
Jero, ouepefHoil pesepyap mns Bopsl (Humdert II).
Ero pacrnonoxeHue Ha HeOGONBIIOM PACCTOSHUM OT
Humdes I, Ho HIDKe IO CK/IOHY, HO3BOJISIET HOTafbl-
BaTbCsI, YTO BOJA 13 AKBEAYKA IIOC/IE HAIOMHEeHMsI 60-
Jlee paHHero BMeCTWININA 32 BHYTPEHHell CTEeHOII CTe-
Kasa (1o Tpy6e?) 1 HALIO/MHsIIA Y>Ke HOBBII Pe3epByap
(puc. 2.2-9).

CHapyX1 OT BOPOT, BEAYIINX K BOCTOKY (K Ipu-
CTaHu), NO-NpeXXHeMy QYHKIVOHMPOBAT XpaM (puc.
2.13).

B Takont >xe mepmon B bamakmaBe-KambikoBke
OB pacuIMpeH IpeTopuit (pretorium), a yKpemneHus
¢opTa ¢ 3amagHOI CTOPOHBI OBUIN Pa30OpaHBI I Iie-
PENBUHYTHI Ha IPEAIObe, YBEININBAsA, TEM CaMbIM,
Teppuropuio, obHeceHHyl creHamu. B Xepconece,
TaK >Xe, Kak 11 Ha MbIcy Ail-Topop, O6bIIM paciiypeHsl
TapHU30HHbIE TePMBI.

B cBere mpenso>keHHOJ BbILIE MOIBITKM HOBO-
IO IepeOCMBICICHNS aPXUTEKTYPHO-CTPOUTEIbHBIX
06DbekToB ATi-Tofjopa HaJio 3aMeTHUTD, YTO B TAKUM Xe
obpasom 6bu1n mepectpoeHsl ¢popt u xpam H0murepa
Jlomuxena B bamaknabe-KanbikoBke, a Taxoke BHY-
TPEHHss 3acTpolika uTafenu B XepcoHece.

Ba)KHBIM 37IeMEHTOM aHa/IN3a, IPENIPUHATOrO aB-
TOPOM HAaCTOsAIeil pabOThI, ABIAETCSA TAKXKe IOIBITKA
COCTaBJICHN:, Ha OCHOBAaHUM [OCTYITHBIX JAHHBIX, HO-
Boro IUTaHa dopra (puc. 2). B atoit pabote 6bp1H yuTe-
HBI BCE COOPY>KEHVA M X 9aCTH, KOTOPBIe NOAB/IAITCA
Ha pasHbIX IVTaHaX V/VIM YIIOMMHAIOTCS B Pas/IMYHbIX
myomukarysix. Takxke 6bU1a McHonb3oBaHa MHGOpPMA-
V1, CTIeMyIoIast U3 TIPefICTaB/ICHHOTO BBIIIe pasfiene-
HIISI 9aCTV OO'BEKTOB Ha CTPOUTE/IbHBIE (asbl.

Pestomupys, crmemyeT momg4epKHYTb, UTO COfep-
Xaluecsi B NyOMMKALVUAX CBeeHUs OTHOCUTEIBHO
OOJIBIIVHCTBA IPOBENEHHBIX HAa MBICY PACKOIIOK Ya-
CTO CKYIIBI VI HE[JOCTATOUHBI /IS PellleHNsI BOIIPOCOB,
KOTOpBIe B HacTosAllee BpeMs CTOAT Iepef YIeHbIMIA.
BocnonHeHne 3TUX IaKYH U MOSIB/IEHVIE HOBBIX TEOPUIT
CTasny BO3MOXXHBI 671arofapst ncciefoBanusiM 90-x ro-
noB XX B. 1 Havyana XXI B., IpoBe[eHHbIM, ITABHBIM
06pasoM, Ha APYIUX OOBEKTAaX, CBA3AHHBIX C PUM-
CKVIM BOEHHBIM IpUCYTCTBUeM B TaBpupge. OrpoMHoe
3HaueHUe MMeNMM YKPaMHCKO-IONbCKME VICCIeNoBa-
Hus xpama IOmmrepa [lonuxeHa u ocTaTkoB (opTa
B bamaxmaBe-KagpikoBKe, a TakKe CTOPOXKeBOI Oar-
HI Ha BpIcoTe Kasarkas Bosne ViHkepmaHa. brarogaps
3TUM paboTaM yHANIoCh OTKOPPEKTUPOBATh UHGOP-
MalMio 110 OYepeHOCTM CTPOUTENbHBIX ¢a3 ¢opTa
Ha Mbicy Ait-Tomop. B Bupy cmabpix mepcrekTuB Ha
BO30OHOBJIEHVE JICCTENOBAHMII Ha 3TOM OOBEKTe,



Papocnas Kapacesnu-Ipmépckuit

B O/mypKaitieM OyfyleM KO/DKHBL OBITh IPOaHaIN3M-
POBaHBI XpaHsILIVeCs B HAYYHbIX apXyBax Heomyom-
KOBaHHbIE OTYEThI IPEAbIAYIINX PACKOIOK.
ITpencraBneHHOe BBl OOIMIMPHOE OIVCAHIE
TOJIBKO OITyO/IMKOBAaHHBIX MaTepuasoB (M MX aHA/IN3)
[O3BOJISET 3aMETUTD, YTO (OPT OBLI pacIlupeH Ha py-
6exxe III B. H.3., 4TO ¢ GOJIBIION [fOMIEIl BEPOSTHOCTU
yKa3bIBaeT Ha HaMepeHUe YBEINYUTh JUCIOLVpYye-

MBI/T B HeM rapHu3oH. Crefpl MOfOOHBIX M3MEeHEeHNI
B 3TO K€ BpeM: MOXKHO 3aMeTHUTb TakKe B XepcoHece
u B Banaxmase. Takum 06pa3oM, MOXKHO IIPeJIIONO-
JKIUTD, 4TO B mepuop npasneHusa Centumusa Cesepa
U ero IpeeMHNMKOB ObII peanu30BaH OOIIVPHBIN
IVIaH YKpeIUIeHNs PYMCKOTO BOEHHOTO IPUCYTCTBUA
B TaBpupe.

Ilepesoo Bauecnas E. Iepacumos



